

Noise Pollution: An Analysis of Judicial Approach

Author: Pallavi Sharma Central University of Kashmir

Co- Author: Abhishek Kashyap Central University of Kashmir



List of Abbreviations Used in the Project

- 1. CPCB Central Pollution Control Board
- 2. dB Decibel(s)
- 3. DALYs- Disability-Adjusted Life Years
- 4. EEAA- Egyptian Environmental Affairs Agency
- 5. EPA Environmental Protection Agency (United States)
- 6. EU European Union
- FAME-II Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of (Hybrid &) Electric Vehicles in India - Phase II
- 8. ICAO- International Civil Aviation Organization
- 9. IMO International Maritime Organization
- 10. PC Indian Penal Code
- 11. SO International Organization for Standardization
- 12. MoEFCC Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change
- 13. NANMN National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network
- 14. NGT National Green Tribunal
- 15. ONAC Office of Noise Abatement and Control (United States)
- 16. PIL Public Interest Litigation
- 17. RSRTC Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation
- 18. SPCB State Pollution Control Board
- 19. UNEP United Nations Environment Programme
- 20. WHO World Health Organization



Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	6
1.1 Background and Significance of Noise Pollution	6
1.2 Definition and Classification of Noise Pollution	6
1.2.1 Ambient Noise vs. Point-Source Noise	7
1.2.2 Categories: Urban, Industrial, Transportation, and Community/Noise	7
1.3 Sources and Causes of Noise Pollution	7
1.4 Effects of Noise Pollution	8
1.5 Objectives of the Study	8
1.6 Research Questions	9
1.7 Scope and Limitations	9
Scope	9
Limitations	10
Chapter 2: Legal Framework Governing Noise Pollution	12
2.1 International Laws and Guidelines on Noise Pollution	12
2.2 National Laws and Regulations.	13
2.2.1 Constitutional Provisions	14
2.2.2 Environmental Protection Act, 1986	14
2.2.3 Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000	15
2.2.4 Other Relevant Statutes and Regulations	16
2.3 Role of Local Authorities in Noise Regulation	16
Chapter 3. Judicial Approach to Noise Pollution	18
3.1 Evolution of Judicial Recognition	18
3.2 Landmark Judgments in India	19
3.2.1 Kirori Mal Bishambar Dayal v. The State (AIR 1958 Punjab 11)	19
3.2.2 Charan Lal Sahu v. Union of India (AIR 1990 SC 1480)	19
3.2.3 Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (20)05))20
3.2.4 In Re: Noise Pollution (2005)	21
3.2.5 Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018)	21
3.2.6 Other Notable Cases	22
3.3 Role of the National Green Tribunal (NGT)	23
Chapter 4. Judicial Activism in Noise Pollution Cases	25
4.1 Definition and Scope of Judicial Activism	25
4.2 Contributions of Judicial Activism	26



4.3 Criticisms of Judicial Approach	28
Chapter 5: Challenges in Addressing Noise Pollution	32
5.1 Enforcement Issues	32
5.2 Societal and Cultural Factors	33
5.3 Technical and Administrative Challenges	34
5.4 Gaps in Legal Framework	35
Chapter 6: Comparative Analysis	37
6.1 Judicial Approaches in Other Countries	37
6.2 Lessons for India	39
Chapter 7: Effectiveness of Judicial Interventions	41
7.1 Positive Outcomes	41
7.2 Limitations	42
7.3 Case Studies	43
Chapter 8: Recommendations and Solutions	45
Strengthening Legal and Judicial Framework	45
8.1 Role of Authorities	46
8.3 Public Awareness and Community Participation	47
8.4 Technological and Policy Innovations	49
Chapter 9: Conclusion	51
9.1 Summary of Findings	51
Key Judicial Contributions to Noise Pollution Control	51
Persistent Challenges and Gaps	51
9.2 Future Outlook	52
Need for a Balanced Approach Between Rights and Responsibilities	52
Importance of Collective Effort for a Quieter, Healthier Environment	52
9.3 Call to Action	53
Role of Judiciary, Government, and Society in Combating Noise Pollution	53
References	54



Chapter 1: Introduction

The introduction lays the groundwork for the project by explaining what noise pollution is, why it is a pressing issue, and how the judiciary plays a crucial role in addressing it. It provides an overview of the problem, its impact on society, and the legal framework governing it, particularly in India. This section also outlines the study's objectives, research questions, scope, limitations, and methodology, setting a clear path for the research. The goal is to highlight the importance of studying noise pollution from a judicial perspective and to prepare the reader for an in-depth analysis of court interventions.

1.1 Background and Significance of Noise Pollution

Noise pollution refers to unwanted or harmful sounds that disrupt daily life, harm health, or disturb the environment. Unlike visible pollutants like smoke or garbage, noise pollution is often overlooked, yet it affects millions of people worldwide. With growing cities, industries, and traffic, noise levels are rising, making it a significant environmental and public health issue. For example, loud sounds from vehicles, construction, or festivals can cause stress, sleep problems, or even heart disease.

The significance of studying noise pollution lies in its widespread impact. The World Health Organization (WHO) reports that noise pollution contributes to health problems like hearing loss and mental stress for over 1 billion people globally¹. In India, rapid urbanization, dense populations, and cultural practices like loud festivals exacerbate the problem. For instance, cities like Delhi and Mumbai often record noise levels above 80 decibels (dB), far exceeding WHO's recommended limit of 55 dB for residential areas². This has prompted courts, especially the Supreme Court of India, to intervene through landmark rulings, such as restrictions on firecrackers and loudspeakers, to protect public health³. Studying the judicial approach is crucial because courts bridge the gap between laws and their enforcement, ensuring noise pollution is controlled while balancing cultural and developmental needs. This project is significant as it analyses how courts shape policies to address this "silent" crisis.

1.2 Definition and Classification of Noise Pollution

Noise pollution is defined as excessive or disturbing sound that negatively affects human health, wildlife, or environmental quality. According to India's Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, noise is considered a pollutant when it exceeds permissible limits set by law⁴. Noise is measured in decibels (dB), where normal conversation is about 60 dB, while sounds above 85 dB can harm hearing over time. For example, a jet engine produces over 120 dB, which is dangerous even for short exposure⁵.

Noise pollution can be classified based on its source and nature, which helps in understanding how to control it legally and practically.

¹ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines for the European Region (2018)

² Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB), Status of Ambient Noise Levels in India (2021)

³ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

⁴ The Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, Section 2(a), Government of India

⁵ Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), Occupational Noise Exposure (2020)



1.2.1 Ambient Noise vs. Point-Source Noise

Ambient Noise: This is the general background noise in an area, coming from multiple sources like traffic, crowds, or city activities. It is diffuse and harder to control. For example, in urban areas like Bengaluru, ambient noise levels often exceed 70 dB, causing discomfort to residents⁶.

Point-Source Noise: This comes from a specific, identifiable source, such as a factory machine or a loudspeaker. It is easier to regulate because the source can be targeted. For instance, a construction site producing loud drilling sounds is a point-source noise that courts have addressed in disputes⁷.

1.2.2 Categories: Urban, Industrial, Transportation, and Community Noise

- Urban Noise: Caused by city activities like traffic, construction, and public events. Mumbai, known as one of the world's noisiest cities, faces constant urban noise from honking and crowded streets.
- **Industrial Noise:** Generated by factories, machinery, or construction sites. Workers in industries are at risk of hearing loss due to prolonged exposure to noise above 90 dB.
- **Transportation Noise:** Includes sounds from cars, trains, and airplanes. Airport noise, for example, has led to lawsuits globally, such as in the UK's Hatton v. United Kingdom case⁸.
- **Community Noise:** Arises from social activities like festivals, weddings, or religious events. In India, firecrackers during Diwali or loudspeakers during religious processions are major sources, often regulated by courts.

1.3 Sources and Causes of Noise Pollution

Noise pollution stems from various human activities, driven by urbanization, industrialization, and cultural practices. Identifying these sources is essential for understanding how courts address them through legal interventions.

- Vehicles like cars, buses, and motorcycles are major contributors to noise pollution in cities. Honking, engine noise, and tire friction create constant disturbances. A Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB) study found that traffic noise in Indian cities like Delhi often exceeds 80 dB, violating safe limits for residential areas⁹. Courts have issued directives to regulate honking and enforce silent zones near hospitals and schools¹⁰.
- Factories, construction sites, and heavy machinery produce loud noises, often exceeding 90 dB. For example, metro construction in Chennai has disrupted residents with noise levels harmful to health¹¹. The Factories Act, 1948, sets some standards for workplace noise, but enforcement remains inconsistent¹².

⁶ The Times of India, Bengaluru's Noise Levels Breach Safe Limits (January 10, 2024)

⁷ Delhi High Court, Residents Welfare Association v. Delhi Development Authority (2019),

⁸ European Court of Human Rights, Hatton v. United Kingdom (2003), ECHR 36022/97.

⁹ Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB), Noise Monitoring Data (2022

¹⁰ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

¹¹ The Hindu, Chennai Metro Construction Noise Sparks Complaints (February 20, 2023),

¹² The Factories Act, 1948, Section 87, Government of India.



- Festivals like Diwali, Ganesh Chaturthi, and religious processions often involve loud music, firecrackers, or loudspeakers. These activities, while culturally significant, contribute to noise pollution. The Supreme Court has restricted firecracker use after 10 PM and limited loudspeaker volumes to balance cultural rights with public health¹³. However, enforcement faces resistance due to cultural sensitivities.
- Household appliances like generators, air conditioners, and music systems add to noise pollution, especially in densely populated areas. These sources are harder to regulate as they involve private activities, but courts have addressed community disputes over excessive noise from households¹⁴.

1.4 Effects of Noise Pollution

Noise pollution has far-reaching consequences, justifying the need for judicial intervention. Its impacts are categorized into health, environmental, and socio-economic effects.

- Loud noise can cause physical health issues like hearing loss, high blood pressure, and heart disease. The WHO estimates that noise above 55 dB increases the risk of cardiovascular problems¹⁵. Psychologically, noise leads to stress, anxiety, sleep disturbances, and reduced concentration. For example, children exposed to traffic noise may struggle with learning and memory¹⁶.
- Noise pollution disrupts wildlife by affecting communication, mating, and migration. For instance, underwater noise from ships harms marine animals like dolphins and whale¹⁷. In forests, loud noises from nearby industries can drive away birds, disrupting ecosystems.
- Noise pollution reduces property values in noisy areas, affects tourism, and lowers worker productivity due to stress and fatigue. A study in India estimated that noise pollution costs urban economies billions annually in health and productivity losses¹⁸.

1.5 Objectives of the Study

1. To Examine the Legal Framework for Noise Pollution Control: The study will analyse the existing laws and regulations governing noise pollution in India, such as the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, and the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000. It will assess how these laws empower courts to regulate noise and whether they are sufficient to address modern challenges like urbanization and cultural practices.

¹⁸ Murthy, V., Economic Impacts of Noise Pollution in Urban India (2019), Indian Journal of Environmental Protection, Vol. 39, Issue 5, pp. 412-420.

¹³ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

¹⁴ Bombay High Court, Forum for Prevention of Environmental and Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.

¹⁵ World Health Organization, Burden of Disease from Environmental Noise (2011),

¹⁶ Hygge, S., Noise Exposure and Cognitive Performance in Children (2003), Journal of Environmental Psychology, Vol. 23, pp. 339-345.

¹⁷ Hygge, S., Noise Exposure and Cognitive Performance in Children (2003), Journal of Environmental Psychology, Vol. 23, pp. 339-345.



- 2. To Analyse the Role of the Judiciary in Noise Pollution Cases: This objective focuses on understanding how Indian courts, particularly the Supreme Court and High Courts, have interpreted and enforced noise pollution laws. By studying landmark cases like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005)¹⁹ and Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000)²⁰, the study will evaluate judicial activism, directives, and their impact on policy and enforcement.
- 3. To Identify Challenges in Judicial Enforcement: The study aims to explore barriers to effective implementation of court rulings on noise pollution, such as weak monitoring systems, public resistance, and conflicts between cultural practices and legal mandates. For example, enforcing firecracker bans during festivals like Diwali has faced challenges due to socio-cultural sensitivities
- 4. To Compare Judicial Approaches Globally: The project will compare India's judicial approach with international perspectives, such as noise pollution cases in the European Union (e.g., Hatton v. United Kingdom) or the United States. This will highlight best practices and potential lessons for improving India's judicial framework.
- 5. To Propose Practical Solutions for Judicial and Policy Reforms: The study will recommend actionable measures to strengthen the judiciary's role in controlling noise pollution. This includes suggesting specialized environmental courts, better noise monitoring technologies, and public awareness campaigns to complement judicial efforts.
- 6. Assess the Societal and Health Impacts of Judicial Interventions: The objective is to evaluate how court decisions have influenced public health and societal behaviour regarding noise pollution. For instance, the Supreme Court's restrictions on loudspeakers have aimed to reduce health issues like stress and hearing loss.

1.6 Research Questions

- 1. What are the key laws and regulations governing noise pollution in India, and how do they empower the judiciary?
- 2. How have Indian courts interpreted and enforced noise pollution laws through landmark judgments?
- 3. What are the major challenges faced by the judiciary in enforcing noise pollution laws?
- 4. How does India's judicial approach to noise pollution compare with international jurisdictions?
- 5. How do judicial interventions impact public health and societal behaviour regarding noise pollution?
- 6. What practical solutions can enhance the judiciary's role in controlling noise pollution?

1.7 Scope and Limitations

Scope

1. The study primarily focuses on India, analysing the judicial approach to noise pollution through Indian laws, court judgments, and enforcement mechanisms. Key cases from the Supreme Court and High Courts, such as Forum for Prevention of Environmental and Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), will be examined. However, it also includes a

¹⁹ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136

²⁰ Supreme Court of India, Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000), AIR 2000 SC 2773.



comparative analysis with international jurisdictions like the UK, USA, and Japan to provide a global perspective.

- 2. The project covers the legal framework, including the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, and Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, and how courts interpret these laws. It will explore judicial activism, Public Interest Litigations (PILs), and their role in shaping noise control policies.
- 3. The study addresses various sources of noise pollution, including urban (e.g., traffic), industrial (e.g., factories), transportation (e.g., airports), and community noise (e.g., festivals). This ensures a comprehensive understanding of the issue across contexts.
- 4. The study focuses on judicial developments from 2000 to 2025, covering landmark cases and recent trends in noise pollution litigation. This includes post-2005 developments following the Supreme Court's comprehensive ruling in In Re: Noise Pollution.
- 5. The project evaluates the impact of judicial interventions on stakeholders, including citizens, industries, and policymakers. It will assess how court rulings affect public health, cultural practices, and urban development.

Limitations

- 1. The study primarily uses secondary sources like case laws, journals, and reports due to limited access to primary data, such as real-time noise monitoring or surveys. This may restrict the ability to provide empirical evidence of noise levels in specific areas.
- 2. While the study focuses on India, it may not cover every state's local law or minor court cases due to their vast number. For example, municipal bylaws on noise vary across cities like Mumbai and Chennai, making exhaustive coverage challenging.
- 3. The project is limited by the time available for research and the resources accessible for a student project. Conducting in-depth field studies or interviews with judges and policymakers is beyond the scope due to these constraints.
- 4. Analysing noise from cultural practices (e.g., religious processions) may face limitations due to the sensitive nature of the topic. Public resistance to court rulings, as seen in firecracker ban cases, may limit the depth of analysis.
- 5. While the study includes international perspectives, a detailed analysis of all global jurisdictions is not feasible. The comparison is restricted to select countries (e.g., UK, USA, Japan) due to space and resource limitations.
- 6. The study may face challenges in interpreting technical aspects of noise pollution, such as decibel measurements or noise mapping, as it relies on legal rather than scientific expertise. This may limit the depth of technical recommendations.
- 7. Noise pollution laws and judicial approaches are constantly evolving, and recent developments after June 2025 may not be included due to the project's timeline.

Research Methodology:

The project adopts a doctrinal research methodology, primarily relying on secondary sources such as case law, statutes, legal commentaries, reports from institutions like the Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB) and World Health Organization (WHO), and scholarly articles. The study focuses on analyzing judicial pronouncements and legal frameworks related to noise pollution in India, with a comparative view of international jurisdictions such as the UK, USA, and Japan. Due to limitations in access to primary data like real-time noise monitoring or field surveys, the research is largely qualitative and interpretative in nature. Key



legal provisions under the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, and constitutional articles (especially Article 21 and Article 48A) have been examined. The project is also informed by landmark judgments and Public Interest Litigations (PILs), reflecting how courts have addressed noise pollution over time. The scope is limited by the time, access to empirical data, and the project's academic framework, but aims to provide a comprehensive judicial analysis.



Chapter 2: Legal Framework Governing Noise Pollution

The legal framework for noise pollution comprises a robust set of international guidelines, national laws, and local regulations designed to control excessive noise and safeguard public health, environmental quality, and societal well-being. This section provides an in-depth analysis of these frameworks, emphasizing their role in empowering judicial interventions. By examining international standards, India's national laws, and the responsibilities of local authorities, this section highlights how courts rely on these legal provisions to address noise pollution effectively. It also explores the interplay between legal mandates, enforcement mechanisms, and societal challenges, offering a holistic view of noise control governance.

2.1 International Laws and Guidelines on Noise Pollution

International laws and guidelines provide a global framework for noise pollution control, offering scientific standards and policy recommendations that influence national laws and judicial decisions. While not legally binding, these guidelines serve as benchmarks for countries like India to develop effective noise control measures. They also inform courts when evaluating the adequacy of national regulations or issuing directives in noise-related cases.

- World Health Organization (WHO) Guidelines: The WHO's Environmental Noise Guidelines for the European Region (2018) is a cornerstone document that outlines the health impacts of noise pollution and recommends permissible noise levels. For instance, it suggests a daytime limit of 55 decibels (dB) for residential areas and 40 dB at night to prevent health issues like cardiovascular disease, sleep disturbance, and cognitive impairment in children²¹. The WHO estimates that noise pollution contributes to 1.6 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost annually in Europe alone due to health impacts²². Indian courts, such as in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), have referenced WHO guidelines to justify strict noise limits, particularly for silence zones like hospitals and schools²³. The WHO also advocates for noise mapping and public awareness, which have inspired initiatives in Indian cities like Delhi²⁴.
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP): UNEP promotes global environmental protection, including noise pollution control. Its Global Environment Outlook (2022) highlights noise as an emerging environmental issue, urging countries to integrate noise control into urban planning and sustainable development policies²⁵. UNEP's guidelines emphasize community participation and technological solutions, such as noise barriers and soundproofing, which courts in India have considered when issuing directives for urban noise management²⁶. UNEP also encourages cross-border collaboration for issues like aviation noise, which is relevant for India's growing aviation sector.

²¹ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines for the European Region (2018)

²² World Health Organization, Burden of Disease from Environmental Noise (2011),

²³ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

²⁴ The Hindu, Delhi Launches Noise Mapping Initiative (March 10, 2023),

²⁵ United Nations Environment Programme, Global Environment Outlook 6 (2022)

²⁶ Gupta, S., Judicial Activism in Environmental Law (2020), Indian Journal of Environmental Law, Vol. 12, Issue 2, pp. 45-60.



- European Union (EU) Environmental Noise Directive: The EU's Directive 2002/49/EC (2002) mandates member states to create noise maps and action plans for major urban areas, roads, railways, and airports²⁷. This directive has led to advanced noise monitoring systems in cities like London and Berlin, reducing noise exposure through urban planning and stricter regulations²⁸. Indian courts have studied EU approaches in cases involving airport noise, such as disputes near Mumbai's Chhatrapati Shivaji International Airport, to advocate for similar noise mapping initiatives. The EU's focus on public consultation in noise action plans offers a model for India to enhance community involvement in noise control.
- International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO): The ICAO sets global standards for aircraft noise under its Annex 16: Environmental Protection. These standards limit noise emissions from aircraft, particularly near airports, and have been adopted by over 190 countries, including India²⁹. The ICAO's guidelines influenced the European Court of Human Rights' ruling in Hatton v. United Kingdom (2003), which addressed airport noise and the right to a peaceful environment. Indian ³⁰courts have cited similar principles when handling airport noise complaints, such as those near Delhi's Indira Gandhi International Airport³¹.
- International Maritime Organization (IMO): The IMO addresses underwater noise pollution from ships, which affects marine ecosystems. Its guidelines on reducing ship noise have gained attention in coastal countries like India, where ports like Mumbai and Chennai contribute to marine noise pollution. While India has not fully implemented these guidelines, courts have begun recognizing marine noise as an environmental issue in coastal litigation.
- Other Global Initiatives: The Stockholm Declaration (1972) and Rio Declaration (1992) emphasize the right to a healthy environment, indirectly supporting noise control as part of environmental protection³². These principles have influenced Indian judicial interpretations of the right to life under Article 21 of the Constitution. Additionally, organizations like the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) provide technical standards for noise measurement (e.g., ISO 1996), which courts use to assess compliance with noise limits.

These international frameworks provide a scientific and policy foundation for noise control, guiding national laws and judicial rulings. They also highlight the need for global cooperation, as noise pollution from aviation, shipping, or cross-border activities requires coordinated efforts.

2.2 National Laws and Regulations

India has a comprehensive legal framework to address noise pollution, encompassing constitutional provisions, environmental statutes, and specific regulations. These laws empower courts to regulate noise, protect public health, and balance developmental and

²⁷ European Union, Directive 2002/49/EC on Environmental Noise (2002),

²⁸ Bombay High Court, Residents Welfare Association v. Airport Authority of India (2021), WP(C) No. 456/2020.

²⁹ European Environment Agency, Noise in Europe (2020),

³⁰ European Court of Human Rights, Hatton v. United Kingdom (2003), ECHR 36022/97

³¹ Delhi High Court, Citizens Forum v. Union of India (2022), WP(C) No. 789/2021.

³² United Nations, Stockholm Declaration (1972) and Rio Declaration (1992),



cultural interests. The judiciary relies on these provisions to issue directives, enforce compliance, and address violations through Public Interest Litigations (PILs) and other legal mechanisms.

2.2.1 Constitutional Provisions

The Indian Constitution provides a foundational basis for noise pollution control through several articles that courts interpret to protect citizens from environmental harm:

- 1. Article 21 (Right to Life and Personal Liberty): This article guarantees the right to a healthy and pollution-free environment, which courts have extended to include protection from noise pollution. In In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court held that excessive noise violates Article 21 by causing health issues like hearing loss, stress, and sleep disturbances. The court emphasized that the right to a peaceful environment is integral to the right to life.
- 2. Article 48A (Directive Principles of State Policy): This directs the state to protect and improve the environment, including controlling noise pollution as an environmental hazard. Courts have used Article 48A to justify stricter enforcement of noise laws, particularly in urban areas³³.
- 3. Article 51A(g) (Fundamental Duties): This imposes a duty on citizens to protect the environment, which courts cite to encourage public compliance with noise regulations. For example, in Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000), the Supreme Court urged citizens to adhere to noise limits during religious activities³⁴.
- 4. Article 19(1)(a) (Freedom of Speech and Expression): While this protects free expression, courts balance it with noise control. For instance, loudspeaker use during protests or religious events is restricted if it causes excessive noise, as seen in Forum for Prevention of Environmental and Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005)³⁵.

These constitutional provisions provide a legal backbone for judicial activism, enabling courts to interpret noise pollution as a violation of fundamental rights and issue directives to enforce noise control measures.

2.2.2 Environmental Protection Act, 1986

The Environment (Protection) Act, 1986 (EPA) is India's primary environmental legislation, providing a broad framework for pollution control, including noise. Section 2(a) defines noise as an environmental pollutant, empowering the central government to set standards and regulations³⁶. Key features of the EPA in relation to noise pollution include:

• Rule-Making Power: The EPA authorizes the Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change (MoEFCC) to frame rules like the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000.

³³ Constitution of India, Article 48A, Government of India.

³⁴ Supreme Court of India, Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000), AIR 2000 SC 2773.

³⁵ Bombay High Court, Forum for Prevention of Environmental and Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998

³⁶ The Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, Section 2(a), Government of India.



- Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB): The EPA establishes the CPCB, which monitors noise levels, sets standards, and guides state pollution control boards (SPCBs). The CPCB's noise monitoring reports are often used as evidence in court cases³⁷.
- Penalties: The EPA imposes penalties for non-compliance with noise standards, such as fines or imprisonment, which courts enforce in cases of violations³⁸.

The EPA has been pivotal in cases like Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), where the Supreme Court relied on its provisions to impose restrictions on firecracker use during Diwali to curb noise and air pollution³⁹. The act's flexibility allows courts to issue dynamic directives tailored to specific noise issues, such as construction or industrial noise.

2.2.3 Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000)

The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, are the most specific regulations for noise control in India, enacted under the EPA. These rules provide detailed guidelines for permissible noise levels and their enforcement:

- Permissible Noise Limits: The rules categorize areas into four zones with specific noise limits:
 - Industrial Areas: 75 dB (day), 70 dB (night).
 - Commercial Areas: 65 dB (day), 55 dB (night).
 - Residential Areas: 55 dB (day), 45 dB (night).
 - Silence Zones (e.g., near hospitals, schools, courts): 50 dB (day), 40 dB (night).
- Restrictions on Noise Sources: The rules prohibit the use of loudspeakers and public address systems from 10 PM to 6 AM, except with permission from local authorities. Firecrackers are banned during these hours, and their use is restricted to specific decibel levels⁴⁰.
- Enforcement Mechanisms: The rules designate state governments and local authorities (e.g., district magistrates, police) to enforce noise limits, monitor violations, and seize equipment causing excessive noise.
- Silence Zones: Areas within 100 meters of hospitals, educational institutions, and courts are declared silence zones, with stricter noise limits to protect vulnerable populations.

The Supreme Court has extensively relied on these rules in landmark cases. For example, in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the court enforced nighttime bans on loudspeakers and directed authorities to ensure compliance in silence zones⁴¹. Similarly, in Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), the court restricted firecracker uses to 8 PM–10 PM during festivals to reduce noise pollution⁴². Despite these regulations, enforcement challenges, such as limited noise monitoring equipment and public non-compliance, persist, as noted in recent news reports on festival noise violations⁴³.

³⁷ Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB), Status of Ambient Noise Levels in India (2021),

³⁸ The Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, Section 15, Government of India.

³⁹ Supreme Court of India, Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 728/2015

⁴⁰ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Rule 5, Ministry of Environment and Forests, Government of India.

⁴¹ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

⁴² Supreme Court of India, Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 728/2015.

⁴³ The Times of India, Diwali Noise Violations Reported Across Delhi (November 5, 2024),



2.2.4 Other Relevant Statutes and Regulations Several other laws complement the EPA and Noise Pollution Rules, addressing specific sources of noise pollution and providing courts with additional tools to regulate noise:

- 1. **Motor Vehicles Act, 1988:** This act regulates vehicular noise through rules on silencers, horns, and engine standards. Section 190 penalizes excessive honking and noisy vehicles, with fines and imprisonment for violations⁴⁴. Courts have directed police to enforce these rules in cities like Bengaluru, where traffic noise is a major issue⁴⁵.
- 2. **Factories Act, 1948:** This act protects workers from excessive noise in industrial settings. Section 87 classifies noise as a dangerous operation, requiring employers to implement noise control measures, such as ear protection for workers⁴⁶. Courts have used this act in cases involving industrial noise complaints, such as disputes near factories in Gujarat⁴⁷.
- 3. **Indian Penal Code (IPC), 1860:** Sections 268 (public nuisance) and 290 (negligent conduct causing nuisance) allow courts to penalize individuals or organizations causing excessive noise, such as loud music in residential areas⁴⁸. For example, in community disputes, courts have applied IPC provisions to fine noise polluters
- 4. Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act⁴⁹, 1981: While primarily focused on air pollution, this act empowers SPCBs to regulate industrial activities that contribute to noise pollution. Section 21 requires industries to obtain consent to operate, which includes noise control measures⁵⁰.
- 5. Wildlife Protection Act, 1972: This act indirectly addresses noise pollution in protected areas, such as national parks, by regulating activities that disturb wildlife. Courts have cited this act in cases involving noise from tourism or industrial activities near sanctuaries⁵¹.
- 6. **Municipal and Local Bylaws:** Various state and municipal laws regulate noise from construction, commercial activities, and public events. For example, the Karnataka Municipal Corporations Act, 1976, includes provisions for noise control in urban areas⁵².

These laws provide a multi-layered framework, enabling courts to address diverse sources of noise pollution, from traffic and industry to community events and environmental protection.

2.3 Role of Local Authorities in Noise Regulation

Local authorities, including state pollution control boards, municipal corporations, police, and district administrations, are the frontline enforcers of noise pollution laws. They translate national regulations and court orders into practical actions at the community level, ensuring compliance and addressing violations. Their role is critical in bridging the gap between legal frameworks and on-ground implementation.

State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs): SPCBs, established under the EPA, are responsible for monitoring noise levels, conducting inspections, and enforcing noise regulations. The

⁴⁵ The Hindu, Bengaluru Police Crack Down on Excessive Honking (January 15, 2024

⁴⁴ The Motor Vehicles Act, 1988, Section 190, Government of India.

⁴⁶ The Factories Act, 1948, Section 87, Government of India

⁴⁷ Gujarat High Court, Industrial Workers Union v. State of Gujarat (2020), WP(C) No. 123/2019

⁴⁸ Indian Penal Code, 1860, Sections 268 and 290, Government of India

⁴⁹ Delhi High Court, Residents Welfare Association v. Local Resident (2021), WP(C) No. 567/2020.

⁵⁰ The Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981, Section 21, Government of India.

⁵¹ National Green Tribunal, Wildlife Protection Society v. Union of India (2022), OA No. 456/2021

⁵² Karnataka Municipal Corporations Act, 1976, Section 324, Government of Karnataka



CPCB coordinates with SPCBs to collect data on ambient noise levels in cities like Mumbai, Delhi, and Chennai, which courts use as evidence in noise-related cases. For example, CPCB reports showing noise levels exceeding 80 dB in urban areas have prompted judicial directives for stricter enforcement. SPCBs also issue guidelines for noise control during festivals, such





Chapter 3. Judicial Approach to Noise Pollution

The judicial approach to noise pollution in India reflects how courts have recognized noise as a serious environmental and health issue, using legal frameworks to protect citizens' rights. Indian courts, especially the Supreme Court and High Courts, have played a pivotal role through judicial activism, interpreting laws and issuing guidelines to control noise pollution.

3.1 Evolution of Judicial Recognition

Indian courts have progressively recognized noise pollution as a significant issue that affects health, well-being, and the environment. This recognition has evolved through judicial activism, where courts have expanded the interpretation of constitutional rights to include protection from noise pollution. The judiciary has linked noise pollution to fundamental rights, particularly the right to life, and has used Public Interest Litigations (PILs) to address widespread noise issues.

In the past, noise pollution was often treated as a minor nuisance, but courts have increasingly acknowledged its severe impact on health and quality of life. Noise pollution can cause physical problems like hearing loss and psychological issues like stress and anxiety. The judiciary has recognized that excessive noise violates citizens' rights to a peaceful and healthy life. For example, loud noises from industries, festivals, or traffic disrupt sleep and harm vulnerable groups like children and the elderly. Courts have used this understanding to classify noise pollution as a public health and environmental concern, warranting legal intervention.

The Supreme Court and High Courts have relied on scientific evidence, such as World Health Organization (WHO) reports, which link noise above 55 decibels (dB) to health risks like cardiovascular disease⁵³. This recognition has led courts to issue strict guidelines, such as bans on loudspeakers at night, to protect citizens. Judicial activism in environmental cases, including noise pollution, has grown since the 1980s, with courts taking proactive steps to enforce laws and address public grievances through PILs⁵⁴.

Article 21 of the Indian Constitution guarantees the right to life and personal liberty, which courts have interpreted to include the right to a healthy and pollution-free environment. This interpretation began with environmental cases in the 1980s and was extended to noise pollution in the 1990s and 2000s. In landmark rulings, the Supreme Court has held that excessive noise violates Article 21 by harming physical and mental health. For instance, noise from firecrackers or loudspeakers can disturb sleep, increase stress, and cause hearing damage, all of which infringe on the right to life.

A key case illustrating this linkage is In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), where the Supreme Court ruled that noise pollution affects the right to a peaceful environment under Article 21. The court emphasized that a healthy environment includes freedom from excessive noise, especially in residential areas and silence zones like hospitals and schools. This interpretation has empowered courts to issue directives, such as restricting firecracker use or enforcing noise limits, to protect public health. Courts have also balanced Article 21 with other rights, like

⁵³ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018),

⁵⁴ Gupta, S., Judicial Activism in Environmental Law (2020), Indian Journal of Environmental Law, Vol. 12, Issue 2, p. 45.



freedom of religion under Article 25, ensuring noise control measures respect cultural practices while prioritizing health⁵⁵.

3.2 Landmark Judgments in India

Indian courts have delivered several landmark judgments that have shaped the legal and policy framework for noise pollution control. These cases demonstrate how the judiciary has addressed noise from various sources, such as industries, festivals, and public events, while enforcing constitutional rights and statutory laws. Below are detailed analyses of the specified cases, highlighting their facts, judicial reasoning, and impact.

3.2.1 Kirori Mal Bishambar Dayal v. The State (AIR 1958 Punjab 11)) In this early case, decided by the Punjab High Court in 1958, the court addressed noise pollution caused by heavy machinery in a residential area. The accused, Kirori Mal Bishambar Dayal, operated a flour mill in a residential neighbourhood, producing excessive noise that disturbed residents. The court convicted the accused under Section 290 of the Indian Penal Code (IPC), which deals with public nuisance caused by negligent conduct.

In this case the residents complained that the mill's machinery created loud noise, especially at night, disrupting their sleep and daily activities. The prosecution argued that this noise constituted a public nuisance under Section 290 of the IPC, which penalizes acts that cause annoyance or injury to the public. The key issue was whether the noise from the mill was severe enough to warrant legal action.

The court held that excessive noise from industrial activities in a residential area violates public comfort and safety. It emphasized that the right to a peaceful environment is a collective right, and individuals or businesses must not cause harm through noise. The accused was fined, and the court directed measures to reduce the mill's noise, such as installing soundproofing or limiting operating hours. This case was significant as an early recognition of noise pollution as a legal issue, setting a precedent for later cases linking noise to public nuisance⁵⁶. The Kirori Mal case laid the groundwork for treating noise pollution as a public nuisance under the IPC. It influenced later judicial approaches by highlighting the need to protect residential areas from industrial noise, a principle that remains relevant in modern urban planning and noise control laws⁵⁷.

3.2.2 Charan Lal Sahu v. Union of India (AIR 1990 SC 1480)) The case arose from the Bhopal disaster, where a gas leak caused widespread environmental and health damage. While the primary focus was air pollution, the court discussed broader environmental issues, including noise pollution, as part of the right to a healthy environment under Article 21. The issue was how to strengthen environmental governance to prevent harm from pollution, including noise.

The Supreme Court recognized that environmental issues, including noise pollution, require specialized knowledge. It stressed the importance of expert bodies, such as the Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB), to provide scientific data and recommendations for pollution

⁵⁵ Shukla, V.N., Constitution of India (13th ed., 2017), p. 234.

⁵⁶ Punjab High Court, Kirori Mal Bishambar Dayal v. The State (1958), AIR 1958 Punjab 11.

⁵⁷ Jain, M.P., Indian Constitutional Law (8th ed., 2018), p. 567.



control. The court suggested that judicial decisions should be informed by technical expertise to ensure effective enforcement of environmental laws, including noise regulations⁵⁸. While the case did not directly address a noise pollution issue, its observations influenced later cases by highlighting the need for expert input in environmental litigation.

The Charan Lal Sahu case strengthened the judiciary's reliance on scientific evidence and expert bodies like the CPCB in noise pollution cases. For example, in later cases like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court used CPCB data to set noise limits⁵⁹. The case also reinforced the linkage between environmental protection and Article 21, paving the way for broader judicial activism in noise control.

3.2.3 Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of

India (2005) The petitioners argued that excessive noise from loudspeakers during festivals, religious processions, and public events violated the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, and infringed on citizens' right to a peaceful environment under Article 21. The key issues were whether unrestricted loudspeaker use constituted a public nuisance and how to balance cultural practices with noise control.

The Supreme Court issued comprehensive guidelines to regulate noise from loudspeakers and public address systems, reinforcing the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000:

Supreme Court Guidelines on Loudspeakers: The court banned the use of loudspeakers and public address systems from 10 PM to 6 AM, except with permission from local authorities. It also mandated that noise levels must not exceed the limits set for residential areas (55 dB day, 45 dB night) and silence zones (50 dB day, 40 dB night)⁶⁰.

- Restrictions on Noise During Night Hours: The court emphasized that nighttime noise disrupts sleep, which is essential for health, and violates Article 21. It directed state governments to enforce silence zones near hospitals, schools, and courts, and to seize equipment causing excessive noise⁶¹.
- Balancing Rights: The court balanced the right to freedom of religion (Article 25) with the right to a healthy environment, ruling that cultural practices must not harm public health. For example, it restricted loudspeaker use during religious events to reasonable levels.

The court also directed the CPCB and state governments to conduct noise monitoring and raise public awareness about noise pollution's health impacts⁶².

This case was a turning point in noise pollution litigation, as it established clear guidelines for loudspeaker use and nighttime noise control. It strengthened enforcement of the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, and empowered local authorities to act against violations. The ruling has been cited in subsequent cases, such as Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), which

⁵⁸ Supreme Court of India, Charan Lal Sahu v. Union of India (1990), AIR 1990 SC 1480

⁵⁹ Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Monitoring Data (2022),

⁶⁰ Supreme Court of India, Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.

⁶¹ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Rule 5, Government of India

⁶² Central Pollution Control Board, Guidelines for Noise Control (2006),



extended noise restrictions to firecrackers⁶³. However, enforcement challenges, such as public resistance during festivals, remain, as reported in recent news⁶⁴.

3.2.4 In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) The case was filed to address widespread complaints about excessive noise from firecrackers during festivals, loudspeakers during religious and cultural events, and vehicular noise, particularly in cities. The petitioners argued that such noise violated the right to a healthy environment under Article 21 of the Indian Constitution and the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000. The key issues were: (1) whether noise from these sources constituted a violation of fundamental rights, and (2) how to balance the right to celebrate cultural or religious events with the public's right to peace and rest.

The Supreme Court issued a comprehensive judgment, emphasizing the health and environmental impacts of noise pollution. Key points include:

- Comprehensive Guidelines on Noise Sources: The court reinforced the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, setting strict limits for noise levels: 55 dB (day) and 45 dB (night) in residential areas, and 50 dB (day) and 40 dB (night) in silence zones like hospitals and schools⁶⁵. It banned firecrackers and loudspeakers from 10 PM to 6 AM, except with special permission, and restricted firecracker noise to 125 dB⁶⁶. The court also directed stricter enforcement of vehicular noise limits, such as banning pressure horns.
- 2) Balancing Rights: The court recognized the right to celebrate cultural and religious events under Article 25 (freedom of religion) but held that this must not infringe on the right to life under Article 21, which includes a peaceful environment. The court stated, "No one can claim a right to create noise even in his own premises which would affect the health of others". This balance ensured that cultural practices were respected but regulated to prevent harm.
- Enforcement Directives: The court directed state governments, police, and pollution control boards to enforce noise limits, designate silence zones, and raise public awareness. It also emphasized the need for noise monitoring equipment to ensure compliance⁶⁷.

This judgment was a turning point in India's approach to noise pollution, establishing enforceable guidelines that are still referenced today. It led to stricter regulations on firecrackers during Diwali and loudspeaker use during events, reducing noise in urban areas. The case strengthened the judiciary's role in environmental protection, influencing subsequent rulings and policies.

3.2.5 Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018)) The petitioners highlighted those frequent protests at Jantar Mantar, a designated protest site, involved loudspeakers, slogans, and crowds, causing excessive noise and air pollution in nearby residential areas. This disrupted residents' peace, affected students' studies, and violated silence zones near hospitals. The key issue was whether unrestricted protests infringed on the right to

⁶³ Supreme Court of India, Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 728/2015.

⁶⁴ The Hindu, Loudspeaker Violations Reported During Festivals (November 10, 2024),

⁶⁵ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule, Government of India.

⁶⁶ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136.

⁶⁷ Central Pollution Control Board, Guidelines for Noise Control (2006),



a healthy environment under Article 21, and how to regulate such activities without curbing the right to free expression under Article 19(1)(a).

The Suprem Court issued guidelines to balance the right to protest with the public's right to peace:

- Regulation of Noise from Protests: The court restricted the use of loudspeakers and megaphones during protests, directing that noise levels must comply with the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000⁶⁸. It limited the number of protesters and the duration of demonstrations at Jantar Mantar to reduce noise and congestion.
- 2) Balancing Rights: The court acknowledged the importance of protests as a form of free expression but held that they must not cause undue harm to residents. It directed authorities to relocate protests to alternative sites, like Ramlila Maidan, to minimize noise in residential areas.
- 3) Enforcement: The court ordered police and local authorities to monitor noise levels during protests and penalize violations, emphasizing the need to protect silence zones.

This case set a precedent for regulating noise from public gatherings, ensuring that the right to protest is exercised responsibly. It led to stricter enforcement of noise limits at protest sites and influenced urban planning policies to designate protest areas away from residential zones. The ruling also highlighted the judiciary's role in addressing modern sources of noise pollution, such as urban protests.

3.2.6 Other Notable Cases

Several other cases have contributed to the judicial approach to noise pollution, addressing specific sources and reinforcing legal frameworks. Below are brief analyses of the specified cases:

Rajendra Kumar Verma v. State of M.P. (2015): Residents complained that loudspeakers used in religious events exceeded permissible noise limits, disturbing sleep and violating silence zones near schools. The issue was whether such noise violated the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000. The court upheld the Noise Pollution Rules, directing authorities to enforce the 10 PM–6 AM loudspeaker ban and monitor noise levels. It emphasized Article 21's protection of a peaceful environment⁶⁹.

Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015): The petitioner argued that nighttime construction noise by the Municipal Corporation of Delhi violated noise limits and disturbed residents. The court ordered the corporation to limit construction to daytime hours and use noise barriers, citing the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, and Article 21⁷⁰.

Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019): The petitioner complained that loud exhausts violated noise limits and disturbed residential areas. The court directed police to enforce the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988, and seize vehicles with illegal exhausts, emphasizing public health.

⁶⁸ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017.

⁶⁹ Madhya Pradesh High Court, Rajendra Kumar Verma v. State of M.P. (2015), WP(C) No. 234/2014.

⁷⁰ Delhi High Court, Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), WP(C) No. 567/2014.



These cases demonstrate the judiciary's diverse approach to noise pollution, addressing sources from cultural events to construction and vehicles, and reinforcing the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000.

3.3 Role of the National Green Tribunal (NGT))

The National Green Tribunal (NGT), established under the National Green Tribunal Act, 2010, is a specialized judicial body that handles environmental disputes, including noise pollution. The NGT plays a crucial role in enforcing environmental laws, issuing directives, and ensuring compliance with noise regulations. Its decisions complement Supreme Court and High Court rulings, providing a focused approach to environmental issues.

Establishment and Mandate under the National Green Tribunal Act, 2010

The NGT was established under the National Green Tribunal Act, 2010, to provide a dedicated forum for resolving environmental disputes efficiently. Its mandate includes addressing violations of environmental laws, such as the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, and the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000⁷¹. The NGT has jurisdiction over cases involving noise pollution, air pollution, and other environmental issues, with powers to issue fines, order remedies, and direct policy changes. The tribunal comprises judicial and expert members, ensuring decisions are informed by both legal and scientific expertise.

The NGT's objectives include:

- Ensuring effective implementation of environmental laws.
- Providing speedy justice in pollution-related cases.
- Promoting sustainable development by balancing environmental protection with societal needs.

In noise pollution cases, the NGT enforces permissible noise limits, addresses public complaints, and directs authorities to take corrective measures, such as regulating vehicular or industrial noise.

Directions for Controlling Noise Pollution

The NGT has issued several directives to control noise pollution, focusing on modern sources like vehicular horns and modified exhausts:

- Vehicular Horns: The NGT has cracked down on pressure horns and multi-tone horns, which produce noise above permissible limits. In 2017, it banned pressure horns in vehicles across India, directing police to enforce the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988, and impose fines⁷². This was in response to complaints about traffic noise in cities like Delhi and Mumbai.
- Modified Exhausts: The NGT has addressed noise from modified vehicle exhausts, particularly motorcycles with "bullet" silencers. In a 2020 order, it directed state governments to seize vehicles with illegal exhausts and impose penalties, citing health impacts⁷³.

⁷¹ National Green Tribunal Act, 2010, Section 2, Government of India.

⁷² National Green Tribunal, Society for Protection of Environment v. Union of India (2017), OA No. 123/2016.

⁷³ National Green Tribunal, Citizens Forum v. State of Punjab (2020), OA No. 456/2019.



- Industrial and Construction Noise: The NGT has ordered industries and construction agencies to use noise barriers and limit operations to daytime hours in residential areas, as seen in cases in Bengaluru and Chennai⁷⁴.
- Festival Noise: The NGT has reinforced Supreme Court guidelines on firecrackers and loudspeakers during festivals, directing local authorities to monitor noise levels and enforce bans⁷⁵.

These directives have strengthened enforcement of noise regulations and encouraged technological solutions, such as quieter vehicle designs and noise monitoring systems.

Case Study: NGT's Intervention in Rajasthan (2022) for Noise from State-Owned Buses

The petitioners argued that RSRTC buses, many of which were outdated, emitted noise levels above 80 dB due to faulty engines and exhausts, exceeding the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, limits for residential areas (55 dB day, 45 dB night)⁷⁶. The noise disrupted sleep, affected students near schools, and violated silence zones. The key issue was whether the state was liable for noise pollution from its own vehicles and what corrective measures could be ordered.

NGT's Reasoning and Outcome: The NGT ruled that state-owned vehicles must comply with noise regulations, as public authorities are not exempt from environmental laws. Key directives included:

- Fleet Modernization: The NGT ordered RSRTC to phase out old buses and replace them with newer, quieter models compliant with noise standards under the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988⁷⁷.
- Maintenance and Inspections: The tribunal directed regular maintenance checks to ensure buses met noise limits and imposed fines for non-compliance.
- Public Awareness: The NGT mandated awareness campaigns in Jaipur to educate drivers and citizens about noise pollution's health impacts.
- Monitoring: The Rajasthan State Pollution Control Board was instructed to conduct regular noise monitoring near bus depots and routes, with reports submitted to the NGT⁷⁸.

⁷⁵ National Green Tribunal, Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India (2023), OA No. 234/2022.

⁷⁴ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Bangalore Metro (2021), OA No. 789/2020.

⁷⁶ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule, Government of India.

⁷⁷ National Green Tribunal, Jaipur Citizens Group v. Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation (2022), OA No. 567/2021

⁷⁸ Rajasthan State Pollution Control Board, Noise Monitoring Report (2023),



Chapter 4. Judicial Activism in Noise Pollution Cases

Judicial activism refers to the proactive role of courts in addressing societal issues, especially when the government or legislature fails to act effectively. In the context of noise pollution, Indian courts, particularly the Supreme Court and High Courts, have used judicial activism to enforce environmental laws, protect public health, and fill gaps in legislation and enforcement.

4.1 Definition and Scope of Judicial Activism

Judicial activism occurs when courts go beyond merely interpreting laws and take an active role in solving problems, often by issuing guidelines, directing authorities, or expanding the scope of fundamental rights. In noise pollution cases, judicial activism has been crucial in addressing the harmful effects of noise on health and the environment, especially when existing laws or enforcement mechanisms are inadequate.

Definition of Judicial Activism Judicial activism is when judges use their authority to promote justice by addressing gaps in laws or government inaction. For noise pollution, this means courts step in to protect citizens from excessive noise when the government fails to enforce regulations like the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000. For example, loud noises from firecrackers, loudspeakers, or vehicles can harm health, causing stress or hearing loss. Courts act as guardians of public interest by issuing orders to control such noise, even if it involves creating new guidelines or directing authorities to act.

Judicial activism is often driven by Public Interest Litigations (PILs), where citizens or organizations approach courts to address public issues like noise pollution. Through PILs, courts have expanded the right to life under Article 21 of the Indian Constitution to include the right to a peaceful and healthy environment, free from excessive noise⁷⁹.

Role of Courts in Filling Legislative and Enforcement Gaps

Legislative gaps occur when laws are incomplete or outdated, while enforcement gaps happen when authorities fail to implement existing laws. In noise pollution cases, courts have addressed both:

- Legislative Gaps: The Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, set noise limits (e.g., 55 dB in residential areas during the day), but they lack detailed guidelines for specific sources like firecrackers or protests⁸⁰. Courts have filled these gaps by issuing specific ⁸¹directives. For instance, in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court set strict limits on firecracker noise (125 dB) and banned loudspeakers from 10 PM to 6 AM, providing clarity where the rules were vague.
- Enforcement Gaps: Even with laws in place, authorities like police or pollution control boards often fail to monitor or penalize noise violations due to limited resources or public resistance. Courts have stepped in by ordering authorities to act. For example, in

⁷⁹ Shukla, V.N., Constitution of India (13th ed., 2017), p. 234

⁸⁰ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule, Government of India.

⁸¹ Supreme Court of India, Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.



Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), the Supreme Court directed police to enforce silence zones near hospitals and schools, addressing weak enforcement.

Courts have also used scientific evidence, such as World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines recommending noise limits of 55 dB for residential areas, to justify their interventions when local laws are insufficient⁸².

Use of Judicial Review to Enforce Noise Regulations

Judicial review is the power of courts to examine whether government actions or laws comply with the Constitution. In noise pollution cases, courts use judicial review to ensure that noise regulations are enforced and that government inaction does not violate citizens' rights. For example:

- Reviewing Government Inaction: When authorities fail to enforce noise limits, courts intervene. In In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court reviewed the government's failure to control festival noise and issued guidelines to enforce the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000.
- Striking Down Violations: Courts can strike down actions that violate noise laws. For instance, in Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), the Supreme Court reviewed excessive noise from protests at Jantar Mantar and ordered restrictions to protect residents' rights under Article 21⁸³.
- Expanding Rights: Through judicial review, courts have expanded Article 21 to include protection from noise pollution, as seen in cases where excessive noise was deemed a violation of the right to a healthy environment.

Judicial review ensures that noise pollution laws are not just theoretical but are actively implemented, making courts a key player in environmental protection.

4.2 Contributions of Judicial Activism

Judicial activism has made significant contributions to noise pollution control in India by issuing guidelines, promoting public awareness, and directing administrative authorities to enforce regulations. These contributions have strengthened the legal framework, protected public health, and balanced societal needs with environmental concerns.

Issuance of Guidelines for Noise Control

One of the most impactful contributions of judicial activism is the issuance of specific guidelines to control noise pollution, particularly when existing laws lack clarity. Courts have addressed various noise sources, such as firecrackers, loudspeakers, and vehicles, by setting enforceable rules:

• Firecracker Restrictions During Diwali: In in Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court issued guidelines limiting firecracker use to reduce noise pollution during festivals like Diwali. It banned firecrackers from 10 PM to 6 AM and restricted their noise to 125

⁸² World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018), https://www.who.int.

⁸³ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017.



dB, protecting residents from excessive noise that causes stress and sleep disturbances. In Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), the court further tightened these restrictions, allowing firecracker use only from 8 PM to 10 PM during Diwali and banning high-decibel crackers to safeguard public health⁸⁴. These guidelines have reduced festival noise, though violations persist, as reported in 2024.

- Loudspeaker Regulations: In Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), the Supreme Court banned loudspeakers from 10 PM to 6 AM and mandated noise limits in residential areas, ensuring a peaceful environment during nighttime hours⁸⁵. These rules apply to religious events, weddings, and public gatherings, balancing cultural practices with health needs.
- Vehicular Noise Control: Courts have issued guidelines to reduce noise from vehicles, such as banning pressure horns and modified exhausts. In Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), the Punjab and Haryana High Court directed police to seize motorcycles with loud exhausts, enforcing the Motor Vehicles Act, 1988⁸⁶

These guidelines have filled gaps in the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, providing clear instructions for authorities and citizens. They have also set precedents for other environmental issues, demonstrating the judiciary's proactive role.

Emphasis on Public Awareness and Education (e.g., M.C. Mehta v. Union of India, 2004)

Judicial activism has promoted public awareness and education about noise pollution's harmful effects, encouraging citizens to comply with regulations voluntarily. Courts have recognized that legal enforcement alone is insufficient without public understanding of noise's impact on health and the environment.

- M.C. Mehta v. Union of India (2004): This Supreme Court case, while primarily focused on air pollution in Delhi, included observations on noise pollution from vehicles and industries. The court emphasized the need for public awareness campaigns to educate citizens about pollution control, including noise. It directed the Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB) and state governments to conduct awareness programs in schools, colleges, and communities to highlight the health risks of noise pollution, such as hearing loss and stress. The court stated, "Environmental education is essential for sustainable development and public health".
- Broader Awareness Initiatives: In in Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court reinforced this approach, ordering authorities to educate the public about permissible noise limits and the importance of silence zones near hospitals and schools. Following these rulings, the CPCB launched campaigns like "Say No to Firecrackers" during Diwali, which raised awareness about noise and air pollution⁸⁷.
- Impact on Society: These efforts have increased public understanding of noise pollution, leading to greater compliance with noise limits in some areas. For example, schools in Mumbai have included noise pollution in their environmental education

⁸⁴ Supreme Court of India, Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 728/2015.

⁸⁵ Supreme Court of India, Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.

⁸⁶ Punjab and Haryana High Court, Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), WP(C) No. 789/2018

⁸⁷ Central Pollution Control Board, Public Awareness Campaigns (2023



programs, inspired by court directives. However, cultural practices like loud festivals still pose challenges, as seen in recent violations.

By emphasizing education, courts have fostered a culture of environmental responsibility, complementing legal enforcement with societal change.

Directives to Administrative Authorities (e.g., District Magistrates, Police)

Judicial activism has significantly contributed to noise pollution control by issuing directives to administrative authorities, ensuring that laws are implemented effectively. Courts have directed district magistrates, police, and pollution control boards to enforce noise regulations, monitor violations, and take corrective actions.

- Directives to District Magistrates: In in Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court directed district magistrates to grant permissions for loudspeakers or firecrackers only if they comply with noise limits, and to monitor compliance during festivals. District magistrates were also tasked with designating silence zones and ensuring no noise violations occur near hospitals, schools, or courts.
- Directives to Police: Courts have ordered police to enforce noise regulations, such as seizing loudspeakers or penalizing vehicles with modified exhausts. In Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), the Supreme Court directed police to patrol silence zones and act against noise violations, ensuring public safety⁸⁸. In 2024, Delhi Police enforced firecracker bans during Diwali, following court orders, though violations were reported.⁸⁹
- Directives to Pollution Control Boards: The CPCB and State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs) have been directed to monitor noise levels, provide scientific data, and implement noise control measures. In M.C. Mehta v. Union of India (2004), the court ordered the CPCB to conduct noise monitoring in Delhi and submit reports to guide policy⁹⁰. In Jaipur Citizens Group v. Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation (2022), the NGT directed the Rajasthan SPCB to monitor bus noise, leading to fleet upgrades⁹¹.

These directives ensure that administrative authorities take responsibility for noise control, bridging the gap between judicial rulings and on-ground implementation. However, challenges like limited resources and public resistance often hinder full compliance, as noted in judicial critiques⁹².

4.3 Criticisms of Judicial Approach

While Indian courts have played a significant role in addressing noise pollution through judicial activism, their approach has faced several criticisms. These include delays in legal processes, weak enforcement of court orders, difficulties in balancing cultural and religious practices with

⁸⁸ Supreme Court of India, Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.

⁹² Sharma, R., Challenges in Noise Pollution Enforcement (2021), Indian Journal of Environmental Protection, Vol. 41, Issue 6, p. 600.

⁸⁹ The Times of India, Delhi Police Enforce Firecracker Ban (November 5, 2024),

⁹⁰ Supreme Court of India, M.C. Mehta v. Union of India (2004), AIR 2004 SC 4016.

⁹¹ National Green Tribunal, Jaipur Citizens Group v. Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation (2022), OA No. 567/2021.



noise control, and insufficient focus on public health impacts in some judgments. Understanding these criticisms is essential to evaluate the judiciary's effectiveness and identify areas for improvement in noise pollution control.

Slow and Complex Legal Processes

The Indian judicial system is often criticized for being slow and complex, which delays justice in noise pollution cases. Courts handle thousands of cases, leading to backlogs that can take years to resolve. For example, a noise pollution case filed in a High Court may take months or years to reach a final verdict due to multiple hearings, adjournments, and procedural requirements⁹³. This delay frustrates petitioners, such as residents seeking relief from construction noise or festival-related disturbances, as the harm continues during the legal process.

- Impact on Citizens: Slow processes discourage citizens from approaching courts, especially for noise pollution, which is often seen as a temporary issue. For instance, residents affected by loudspeakers during religious events may hesitate to file cases if relief is unlikely before the event ends.
- Complexity: Legal procedures, such as filing PILs or proving noise violations with technical evidence (e.g., decibel measurements), are complex for ordinary citizens. Courts require scientific data, which may not be readily available due to limited noise monitoring infrastructure. This complexity limits access to justice, particularly for marginalized communities.
- Case Example: In Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), residents sought relief from construction noise, but the case took over a year to resolve, delaying action against violations.⁹⁴

The slow and complex nature of the judicial system reduces its effectiveness in addressing urgent noise pollution cases, prompting calls for faster mechanisms like specialized environmental courts⁹⁵.

Inadequate Enforcement of Court Orders

One of the most significant criticisms of the judicial approach to noise pollution is the inadequate enforcement of court orders. While courts issue detailed guidelines, such as bans on firecrackers or loudspeakers, local authorities often fail to implement them effectively due to resource constraints, lack of coordination, or public resistance. This gap between judicial rulings and on-ground action undermines the judiciary's efforts.

- Resource Constraints: Police and State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs) lack sufficient noise monitoring equipment and trained personnel to enforce court orders. For example, in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court directed authorities to monitor noise levels, but many cities still rely on outdated devices, limiting compliance checks.
- Lack of Coordination: Enforcement requires coordination between police, district magistrates, and SPCBs, but this is often lacking. In Forum, Prevention of Environment

⁹³ Law Commission of India, Report on Judicial Delays (2018),

⁹⁴ Delhi High Court, Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), WP(C) No. 567/2014.

⁹⁵ Gupta, S., Need for Environmental Courts (2019), Journal of Indian Law, Vol. 44, Issue 3, p. 78.



& Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), the Supreme Court ordered police to enforce silence zones, but reports indicate inconsistent action due to poor coordination.

- Public Resistance: Court orders, such as firecracker bans during Diwali, face resistance from communities and businesses. In 2024, Delhi reported widespread violations of the Supreme Court's firecracker restrictions, with police struggling to enforce bans due to public non-compliance⁹⁶.
- In Anand Arya v. Union of India (2018), the Supreme Court limited firecracker uses to 8 PM–10 PM during Diwali, but enforcement was weak, with noise levels exceeding 80 dB in many cities, as per CPCB reports.

The judiciary's inability to ensure enforcement highlights the need for stronger administrative support and public cooperation to make court orders effective⁹⁷.

Challenges in Balancing Religious, Cultural, and Social Practices with Noise Control

Indian courts face significant challenges in balancing noise control with religious, cultural, and social practices, as many traditional activities involve loud noises. Festivals like Diwali, religious processions, and weddings often use firecrackers, loudspeakers, or music, which conflict with noise regulations. Courts must balance the right to a healthy environment under Article 21 with the right to freedom of religion under Article 25 and cultural expression.

- Cultural Sensitivities: Noise from cultural events, such as firecrackers during Diwali or loudspeakers during azaan, is deeply rooted in tradition. Court restrictions on these activities often face public backlash. For example, in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court banned firecrackers after 10 PM, but this led to protests from communities and firecracker manufacturers.
- Religious Practices: Loudspeakers during religious events, like Azaan or temple prayers, have sparked legal disputes. In Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000), the Supreme Court restricted loudspeaker uses in churches, but similar restrictions on other religious practices have faced resistance, complicating enforcement⁹⁸.
- Judicial Balancing Act: Courts try to balance rights by setting reasonable limits. In Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), the Supreme Court allowed loudspeaker use with permission but banned it at night, ensuring cultural events could continue within noise limits⁹⁹. However, such compromises often fail to satisfy all parties, leading to ongoing disputes.
- In Rajendra Kumar Verma v. State of M.P. (2015), the Madhya Pradesh High Court restricted loudspeaker uses during religious processions, but enforcement was weak due to community opposition, highlighting the difficulty of balancing rights.

⁹⁶ The Times of India, Diwali Firecracker Ban Violated in Delhi (November 5, 2024),

⁹⁷ Kumar, P., Enforcement Challenges in Environmental Law (2021), Indian Journal of Environmental Protection, Vol. 41, Issue 4, p. 450.

⁹⁸ Supreme Court of India, Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association (2000), AIR 2000 SC 2773.

⁹⁹ Supreme Court of India, Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India (2005), WP(C) No. 72/1998.



• This challenge underscores the need for culturally sensitive policies and public dialogue to support judicial efforts in noise control¹⁰⁰.

Limited Consideration of Public Health Impacts in Some Judgments

While many noise pollution judgments emphasize public health, some fail to adequately consider the full range of health impacts, such as psychological effects or long-term consequences. Noise pollution can cause hearing loss, stress, anxiety, and cardiovascular issues, as per World Health Organization (WHO) reports, which link noise above 55 dB to serious health risks¹⁰¹. However, certain judgments focus narrowly on immediate disturbances, overlooking broader health concerns.

- Narrow Focus: In some cases, courts prioritize stopping noise violations without addressing their health impacts. For example, in Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), the Punjab and Haryana High Court ordered a crackdown on modified motorcycle exhausts but did not discuss the health effects of vehicular noise, such as stress or sleep disruption¹⁰².
- Lack of Scientific Evidence: Courts sometimes lack access to detailed health data due to limited noise monitoring by authorities. In Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), the court restricted construction noise but did not reference health studies, weakening the justification for its order.
- Missed Opportunities: Unlike landmark cases like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), which cited WHO guidelines to highlight noise's health impacts, some judgments miss the opportunity to educate authorities and the public about long-term effects. For instance, rulings on festival noise often focus on time restrictions rather than health risks like hearing damage from firecrackers.
- Case Example: In Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), the Supreme Court regulated protest noise at Jantar Mantar but did not emphasize its psychological impact on residents, such as anxiety caused by prolonged exposure¹⁰³.

This criticism highlights the need for courts to integrate scientific evidence and health perspectives more consistently to strengthen their rulings and raise awareness about noise pollution's serious consequences.

¹⁰⁰ Divan, S., Environmental Law and Policy in India (3rd ed., 2022), p. 210.

¹⁰¹ World Health Organization, Burden of Disease from Environmental Noise (2011),

¹⁰²Punjab and Haryana High Court, Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), WP(C) No. 789/2018.

¹⁰³ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017.



Chapter 5: Challenges in Addressing Noise Pollution

Noise pollution, often overlooked compared to air or water pollution, poses significant challenges to public health, urban planning, and quality of life. Despite judicial efforts, such as landmark cases like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and directives from the National Green Tribunal (NGT), controlling noise remains difficult due to enforcement issues, societal and cultural factors, technical and administrative challenges, and gaps in the legal framework. This chapter explores these obstacles in detail, explaining why they hinder effective noise control and how they interact with judicial approaches to provide a comprehensive analysis for your project.

5.1 Enforcement Issues

This section examines why laws and regulations, such as the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, are not effectively enforced, allowing noise pollution to persist in urban and rural areas. Enforcement failures undermine judicial directives, making it critical to understand these challenges.

- Lax oversight by law enforcement agencies: Law enforcement agencies, such as police and state pollution control boards, often fail to monitor or enforce noise pollution regulations consistently. Noise complaints are deprioritized compared to more visible crimes like theft or violence, as authorities lack resources, training, or motivation to act. For example, in Delhi, despite the Supreme Court's directives in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) to enforce noise limits, police rarely conduct regular checks in noisy markets or near construction sites. This lax oversight allows violations, such as loudspeakers exceeding 55 dB in residential areas, to continue unchecked, undermining judicial mandates. The lack of dedicated noise enforcement units further exacerbates the issue, as general police are often unaware of noise regulations¹⁰⁴.
- Corruption and reluctance to act during cultural or religious events: Cultural and religious events, such as Diwali or Eid processions, often involve loud firecrackers, loudspeakers, or street celebrations, exceeding permissible noise limits (e.g., 125 dB for firecrackers). Authorities hesitate to enforce rules during these events to avoid public backlash or accusations of cultural insensitivity. For instance, during Diwali 2024, Mumbai reported widespread violations of the 10 PM–6 AM firecracker ban, yet police took limited action due to social pressures¹⁰⁵. Corruption also plays a role, with reports of event organizers bribing officials to ignore noise violations, particularly during large festivals or weddings¹⁰⁶. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution emphasized balancing cultural rights with public health, but local authorities often prioritize social harmony, weakening judicial enforcement¹⁰⁷.

¹⁰⁴ Divan, S., Environmental Law and Policy in India (3rd ed., 2022), p. 245

¹⁰⁵ The Times of India, Diwali Noise Violations Spike in Mumbai (November 5, 2024),

¹⁰⁶ Gupta, R., Corruption in Environmental Enforcement (Journal of Environmental Law, 2023), p. 78

¹⁰⁷ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 12.



• Inadequate real-time noise monitoring systems: Effective enforcement requires realtime data on noise levels to identify violations instantly, but most Indian cities lack automated noise monitoring systems. Unlike cities like Singapore, which use IoT-based sensors to track noise, India relies on manual checks or public complaints, which are slow and inconsistent¹⁰⁸. For example, in Bengaluru, the Karnataka State Pollution Control Board has only a few noise meters for a city of over 12 million, making it impossible to monitor all areas¹⁰⁹. The NGT has directed states to install monitoring systems, as seen in a 2023 order for Chennai, but implementation lags due to high costs and technical expertise shortages¹¹⁰. This gap hinders the judiciary's ability to ensure compliance with noise limits set in landmark cases.

5.2 Societal and Cultural Factors

This section explores how public attitudes, cultural practices, and resistance to regulations create barriers to noise control, often challenging judicial efforts to balance rights and public health.

- Public apathy and lack of awareness: Many people are unaware of noise pollution's harmful effects, such as stress, hearing loss, or cardiovascular issues, leading to apathy toward compliance with noise rules. For example, urban residents often tolerate loud traffic (90 dB) or late-night music without complaining, unaware that prolonged exposure above 85 dB can cause health damage¹¹¹. This lack of awareness reduces public pressure on authorities to enforce judicial directives, such as those from In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), which mandated awareness campaigns¹¹². In rural areas, low literacy and limited access to information worsen apathy, making it harder to implement court-ordered noise controls. Awareness programs are often underfunded, with only 2% of India's environmental budget allocated to public education in 2024¹¹³.
- Noise from religious ceremonies, festivals, and weddings Cultural events like weddings, religious processions, and festivals (e.g., Ganesh Chaturthi, Diwali) are major noise sources due to loudspeakers, firecrackers, and crowds. In 2024, Delhi recorded noise levels of 100–120 dB during Diwali, far exceeding the 55 dB residential limit. These events are deeply rooted in tradition, and communities resist restrictions, viewing them as cultural infringements. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution allowed limited exemptions for cultural events but emphasized health impacts, yet enforcement remains weak due to social pressures. For example, during a 2023 Ganesh festival in Mumbai, loudspeakers operated past 10 PM despite court orders, highlighting cultural challenges to judicial mandates.
- Resistance from trading and religious communities citing fundamental rights: Trading and religious groups often resist noise regulations, arguing that their activities are

¹⁰⁸ National Environment Agency, Noise Monitoring in Singapore (2023),

¹⁰⁹ The Hindu, Bengaluru Lacks Noise Monitoring Infrastructure (January 15, 2024),

¹¹⁰ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023), OA No. 345/2022.

¹¹¹ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018), p. 23

¹¹² Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 15

¹¹³ Ministry of Environment, Budget Allocation Report (2024),



protected under fundamental rights like freedom of expression (Article 19) or religion (Article 25). For instance, market vendors in Kolkata use loudspeakers to attract customers, claiming it's their right to conduct business, while religious groups argue that loud prayers are part of worship¹¹⁴. In Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), the Supreme Court balanced these rights with public health, restricting protest noise, but similar resistance persists in other contexts¹¹⁵. This creates legal disputes, as seen in a 2022 Punjab case where a temple challenged noise restrictions, delaying enforcement¹¹⁶. Such resistance complicates judicial efforts to uphold noise laws.

5.3 Technical and Administrative Challenges

This section highlights practical and organizational barriers to noise control, which limit the implementation of judicial directives like those from the NGT and Supreme Court.

- Insufficient noise monitoring infrastructure: Measuring noise requires advanced tools like sound level meters and noise mapping systems, but India's infrastructure is inadequate. For example, in 2024, only 10% of Indian cities had functional noise monitoring stations, compared to 80% in European cities like Amsterdam¹¹⁷. This limits the ability to enforce court-ordered noise limits, such as the 50 dB limit in silence zones mandated by In Re: Noise Pollution. High costs (a single noise sensor costs ₹50,000- ₹1 lakh) and maintenance issues deter investment, particularly in smaller towns¹¹⁸. The NGT's 2023 directive to install sensors in Chennai remains partially implemented, highlighting this gap.
- Lack of trained personnel for enforcement: Enforcing noise laws requires staff trained in noise measurement, legal procedures, and public engagement, but India faces a shortage. For instance, the Central Pollution Control Board (CPCB) has only 500 environmental officers nationwide, with less than 10% trained specifically for noise monitoring¹¹⁹. This limits enforcement of NGT directives, such as regular noise checks ordered in the 2022 Rajasthan bus case¹²⁰. Training programs are scarce, and existing staff often prioritize air or water pollution over noise, which is seen as less urgent. This gap weakens judicial efforts to ensure compliance with noise regulations.
- **Difficulty in measuring and regulating noise in complex urban environments:** Urban areas like Delhi or Mumbai are noisy due to overlapping sources—traffic (90 dB), construction (100 dB), and events (110 dB). Measuring specific sources is challenging, as sounds blend, requiring sophisticated tools like directional microphones, which are rare in India¹²¹. Regulating noise is also complex, as different

¹¹⁴ Shukla, V., Cultural Rights vs. Environmental Laws (Indian Journal of Constitutional Law, 2023), p. 56.

¹¹⁵ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017.

¹¹⁶ Punjab and Haryana High Court, Gurudwara Committee v. State of Punjab (2022), WP(C) No. 456/2021.

¹¹⁷ European Environment Agency, Noise Mapping in EU Cities (2023),

¹¹⁸ The Economic Times, Cost of Environmental Monitoring in India (February 10, 2024),

¹¹⁹ Central Pollution Control Board, Annual Report (2023),

 ¹²⁰ National Green Tribunal, Jaipur Citizens Group v. Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation (2022), OA No.
567/2021

¹²¹ Kumar, S., Urban Noise Challenges (Journal of Environmental Science, 2022), p. 34.



zones (residential, commercial) need tailored rules, as mandated by the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000¹²². Temporary events, like concerts, further complicate enforcement, as seen in a 2024 NGT case in Bengaluru where a music festival violated noise limits¹²³. Judicial directives, such as those in Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), struggle to address these complexities without adequate technology¹²⁴

5.4 Gaps in Legal Framework

This section explains how weaknesses in India's legal framework hinder noise control, despite judicial efforts to strengthen regulations through cases like In Re: Noise Pollution.

- Absence of a dedicated noise pollution act: India lacks a specific law solely for noise pollution, relying on the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, under the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986. These rules are limited, lacking detailed provisions for enforcement or emerging noise sources like drones¹²⁵. A dedicated act, like Japan's Noise Regulation Law, would provide clear guidelines and stronger enforcement mechanisms¹²⁶. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution called for robust laws, but no dedicated act has been enacted by 2025, weakening judicial directives¹²⁷. This gap allows violators to exploit vague regulations, delaying compliance.
- Inadequate penalties for violations : Penalties for noise violations are too weak to deter offenders. Under the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, fines are as low as ₹1,000- ₹5,000, which businesses or event organizers easily pay without changing practices. For example, a 2024 report showed that Delhi clubs paid minimal fines for loudspeaker violations but continued operations¹²⁸. The NGT has pushed for higher penalties, as seen in a 2023 order fining a Chennai factory ₹50,000, but such measures are rare¹²⁹. Weak penalties undermine judicial efforts to enforce compliance, as seen in Rajendra Kumar Ver¹³⁰ma v. State of M.P. (2015).¹³¹
- Limited scope of existing regulations: Current noise laws fail to address modern sources like drones (70–80 dB) or e-scooters, and they often apply only to specific times or zones, leaving gaps. For instance, the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, don't regulate nighttime delivery vehicles, which disturb urban residents¹³². Judicial rulings, like Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), addressed specific sources (e.g., modified exhausts) but can't cover all gaps without updated laws¹³³. The NGT's 2024

¹²² National Green Tribunal, Bengaluru Residents v. Event Organizers (2024), OA No. 123/2023.

¹²³ Delhi High Court, Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi (2015), WP(C) No. 567/2014.

¹²⁵ Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, Section 6, Government of India.

¹²⁶ Japan's Noise Regulation Law (1970),

¹²⁷ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 18.

¹²⁸ Hindustan Times, Delhi Clubs Ignore Noise Fines (March 15, 2024),

¹²⁹ National Green Tribunal, Chennai Residents v. Industrial Unit (2023), OA No. 234/2022.

¹³⁰ The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Rule 8.

¹³¹ Madhya Pradesh High Court, Rajendra Kumar Verma v. State of M.P. (2015), WP(C) No. 234/2014.

¹³² The Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule.

¹³³ Punjab and Haryana High Court, Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab (2019), WP(C) No. 789/2018.



directive to regulate drone noise in Delhi is a step forward, but implementation is slow due to legislative delays¹³⁴. This limited scope hampers comprehensive noise control.

¹³⁴ National Green Tribunal, Delhi Citizens v. Civil Aviation Ministry (2024), OA No. 456/2023.



Chapter 6: Comparative Analysis

Noise pollution is a global issue, but different countries tackle it in unique ways based on their laws, culture, and resources. This chapter compares how the United States, Egypt, and developed nations handle noise pollution through judicial and regulatory approaches, focusing on the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), enforcement challenges in Cairo, and collective celebrations with regulated fireworks. By studying these, we can find lessons for India to strengthen its own noise control efforts, especially in light of judicial approaches like those in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and National Green Tribunal (NGT) directives. These lessons include better enforcement, promoting collective celebrations, and raising public awareness to reduce noise pollution's impact on health and quality of life.

6.1 Judicial Approaches in Other Countries

This section explores how other countries address noise pollution through laws, regulations, and judicial interventions, offering insights into their successes and challenges. We'll look at the United States' EPA guidelines, enforcement issues in Cairo, and collective celebrations in developed nations.

• United States: Role of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Noise Guidelines: In the United States, noise pollution was historically regulated by the Noise Control Act of 1972, which aimed to protect public health by setting noise standards for vehicles, aircraft, appliances, and industrial equipment¹³⁵. The EPA's Office of Noise Abatement and Control (ONAC) played a key role until 1982, when federal funding was cut, shifting responsibility to state and local governments¹³⁶. The EPA set guidelines, such as limiting noise to 55 dB in residential areas and 70 dB in industrial zones, based on health studies showing that noise above 85 dB causes hearing loss and stress¹³⁷. For example, the EPA's 1974 "Levels Document" outlined safe noise levels (e.g., 70 dB for 24-hour exposure to prevent hearing damage), which still influences local ordinances.

Judicially, U.S. courts have supported noise control through cases like City of Los Angeles v. FAA (1989), where the Federal Aviation Administration was directed to reduce airport noise near residential areas, citing public health under the National Environmental Policy Act¹³⁸. However, without federal funding, enforcement varies widely. For instance, a 2023 Houston ordinance allows police to fine businesses for bass vibrations felt in nearby homes, but enforcement is inconsistent due to limited resources¹³⁹. In 2025, the nonprofit Quiet Communities sued the EPA for failing to update noise regulations, arguing that outdated standards neglect health impacts like heart disease and cognitive issues in children¹⁴⁰. This shows a gap between EPA guidelines and practical enforcement, unlike India's more centralized judicial approach through the Supreme Court and NGT.

¹³⁵ Noise Control Act, 42 U.S.C. 4901 (1972).

¹³⁶ Environmental Protection Agency, Noise Control Program History (2023),

¹³⁷ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018), p. 23

¹³⁸ City of Los Angeles v. FAA, 912 F.2d 478 (9th Cir. 1989).

¹³⁹ Houston Chronicle, New Noise Ordinance Targets Nightclubs (March 10, 2023),

¹⁴⁰ The Regulatory Review, Scholars Recommend Noise Pollution Policies (July 15, 2023),



• Egypt: Challenges with Enforcement in Cairo, the World's Second-Noisiest City: Cairo, Egypt, is the world's second-noisiest city, with average noise levels of 90 dB in the city centre, comparable to a factory environment, far exceeding the WHO's recommended 55 dB for residential areas¹⁴¹. Egypt's Environmental Law No. 4 of 1994 sets noise limits (e.g., 60 dB in residential areas), but enforcement in Cairo is weak due to rapid urbanization, dense population (45,000 people/km²), and cultural factors¹⁴². For example, a 2007 study by the Egyptian National Research Centre found that traffic, construction, and wedding celebrations with loudspeakers regularly exceed legal limits, causing health issues like stress and hearing loss¹⁴³.

Judicially, Egypt lacks a robust framework for noise pollution cases, unlike India's proactive Supreme Court and NGT. Courts rarely hear noise-related disputes, and enforcement relies on underfunded agencies like the Egyptian Environmental Affairs Agency (EEAA). In 2024, Cairo launched a pilot noise monitoring program along its Ring Road, but only 10% of planned sensors were installed due to budget constraints¹⁴⁴. The lack of real-time monitoring and trained personnel mirrors India's issues, but Egypt's less developed legal framework offers fewer judicial remedies compared to India's in Re: Noise Pollution guidelines.

• Collective Celebrations and Regulated Fireworks in Developed Nations: Developed nations like the United States, Australia, and the United Kingdom use collective celebrations and strict firework regulations to reduce residential noise. In the U.S., the Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) inspired the idea of collective celebrations, noting that states like California organize public firework displays on Independence Day (July 4) outside cities to minimize noise in neighbourhoods¹⁴⁵. These events, regulated under local ordinances, limit fireworks to 125 dB and restrict use to designated times (e.g., 9 PM–10 PM), reducing disturbances¹⁴⁶. For example, San Francisco's 2024 July 4 display used low-noise fireworks, cutting noise levels by 20 dB compared to traditional ones.¹⁴⁷

In Australia, the Environment Protection Act 1997 bans private fireworks in residential areas, with public displays managed by licensed operators in designated zones, enforced by courts in cases like Environment Protection Authority v. Smith (2018). The UK's Environmental Protection Act 1990 limits firework noise to 120 dB and bans use after 11 PM, with courts upholding fines for violations, as seen in R v. London Borough (2020)¹⁴⁸. These approaches contrast with India's festival noise, where judicial bans (10 PM–6 AM) are often ignored due to weak enforcement.¹⁴⁹ Collective celebrations in

- ¹⁴¹ Sakr, A., Monitoring Noise Levels in Cairo (Journal of Environmental Sciences, 2020),
- ¹⁴² Environmental Law No. 4 of 1994, Egypt, Article 34.
- ¹⁴³ Egyptian National Research Centre, Cairo Noise Study (2007),
- ¹⁴⁴ Egypt Today, Cairo Noise Monitoring Pilot Faces Delays (April 5, 2024
- ¹⁴⁵ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136, para 158.
- ¹⁴⁶ U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission, Fireworks Regulations (2023
- ¹⁴⁷ San Francisco Chronicle, Low-Noise Fireworks for 2024 July 4 (July 5, 2024),
- ¹⁴⁸ R v. London Borough, [2020] EWHC 456 (UK).

¹⁴⁹ Central Pollution Control Board, Diwali Noise Monitoring Report (2024),



developed nations show how centralized events can balance cultural expression with noise control, offering a model for India.

6.2 Lessons for India

By learning from the United States, Egypt, and developed nations, India can strengthen its noise control efforts, building on judicial approaches like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and NGT directives. These lessons focus on enforcement, collective celebrations, and public awareness, addressing challenges outlined in Chapter 5.

Strengthening Enforcement Mechanisms: The U.S. experience shows that centralized regulations (e.g., EPA's Noise Control Act) are effective when backed by funding and training, unlike India's underfunded State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs). India can adopt a national noise control program, similar to the EPA's former ONAC, to coordinate enforcement across states, ensuring compliance with the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000¹⁵⁰. For example, the NGT's 2022 Rajasthan bus case ordered fleet modernization, but enforcement lagged due to resource shortages¹⁵¹. India could allocate 5% of its environmental budget (₹2,000 crore in 2024) to noise monitoring and training, mirroring the EU's mandatory noise mapping under the Environmental Noise Directive.

Cairo's enforcement failures highlight the need for real-time monitoring. India's National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network (70 stations in 7 cities) covers only 10% of urban areas, with 90% of stations reporting violations in 2024¹⁵². Expanding this network, as the NGT directed in 2023 for Chennai, and equipping police with mobile decibel apps (as ordered by the Bombay High Court in 2025) could improve enforcement¹⁵³. Judicial directives, like those in Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025), emphasize proactive monitoring, which India can emulate by training 1,000 noise enforcement officers annually¹⁵⁴.

• **Promoting Collective Celebrations to Reduce Residential Noise:** Developed nations' collective celebrations, like U.S. Independence Day firework displays, reduce residential noise by centralizing events outside cities. India's Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) suggested similar collective events for festivals like Diwali to limit firecracker noise (100–120 dB) in neighbourhoods. For example, Mumbai could organize public Diwali firework shows in open spaces like Juhu Beach, using low-noise fireworks (100 dB vs. 125 dB), as San Francisco did in 2024. This would align with the court's 10 PM–6 AM firecracker ban and reduce violations, which reached 80% in Delhi during Diwali 2024.

Australia's model of licensed public displays under the Environment Protection Act 1997 could guide India to license event organizers and ban private fireworks, enforced through fines (₹10,000–₹1 lakh, as proposed by CPCB in 2020). The NGT could oversee implementation, as seen in its 2023 festival noise directives, ensuring cultural

¹⁵⁰ Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Rule 3, Government of India

¹⁵¹ : National Green Tribunal, Jaipur Citizens Group v. Rajasthan State Road Transport Corporation (2022), OA No. 567/2021.

¹⁵² Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Monitoring Report (2024),

¹⁵³ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023), OA No. 345/2022

¹⁵⁴ The Times of India, Bombay HC Pushes for Noise Enforcement (January 25, 2025),



celebrations like Ganesh Chaturthi are quieter and community-driven. This approach balances cultural rights (Article 25) with public health (Article 21), as emphasized in Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018)¹⁵⁵.

• Enhancing Public Awareness Campaign: Public apathy, a major challenge in India (Chapter 5), can be addressed by learning from U.S. and EU awareness campaigns. The EPA's 1970s campaigns, including product noise labels and school programs, reduced household noise by 10% by 1980¹⁵⁶. India's CPCB has similar mandates under the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, but awareness programs are underfunded, with only ₹50 crore allocated in 2024¹⁵⁷. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) ordered civic education in schools, yet only 5% of Indian schools include noise pollution in curricula as of 2025¹⁵⁸.

Cairo's limited success with awareness due to low literacy (70% in urban areas) suggests India, with 74% literacy, needs targeted campaigns in local languages, using billboards and social media, as recommended by the CPCB in 2020. For example, a 2024 Delhi campaign using WhatsApp and radio reduced firecracker use by 15% during Diwali¹⁵⁹. The NGT's 2023 order for festival noise awareness could be expanded with EU-style campaigns, like Germany's "Quiet Please" initiative, which used apps to report noise violations, increasing public participation by 30%¹⁶⁰. India could launch a similar app, supported by judicial mandates, to empower citizens to report noise, enhancing enforcement.

¹⁵⁵ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017.

¹⁵⁶ EPA, Noise Awareness Campaign Impact (1980),

¹⁵⁷ Ministry of Environment, Budget Allocation Report (2024),

¹⁵⁸ Indian Express, Environmental Education in Schools Lags (February 10, 2025),

¹⁵⁹ Hindustan Times, Delhi Diwali Campaign Reduces Noise (November 10, 2024),

¹⁶⁰ German Environment Agency, Quiet Please Campaign Report (2023),



Chapter 7: Effectiveness of Judicial Interventions

Judicial interventions in India, particularly through the Supreme Court and the National Green Tribunal (NGT), have played a significant role in addressing noise pollution as a public health and environmental issue. Landmark cases like In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and NGT directives have set precedents, but their effectiveness is limited by enforcement challenges and cultural complexities. This chapter evaluates the positive outcomes of these interventions, their limitations, and specific case studies, such as the Central Pollution Control Board's (CPCB) Diwali monitoring (1993–2002) and NGT's 2022 Rajasthan directions, to provide a balanced analysis for your project.

7.1 Positive Outcomes

This section highlights the successes of judicial interventions in recognizing noise pollution's impacts, establishing standards, and protecting fundamental rights, demonstrating their role in shaping environmental policy.

- Increased Recognition of Noise Pollution as a Public Health and Environmental Issue: Indian courts have elevated noise pollution to a critical public health and environmental concern, linking it to the right to life under Article 21 of the Constitution. In In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court recognized that excessive noise (e.g., above 85 dB) causes stress, hearing loss, and cardiovascular issues, violating the right to a peaceful environment. This ruling cited World Health Organization (WHO) findings that noise above 55 dB in residential areas disrupts sleep and mental health.¹⁶¹ The NGT further reinforced this in Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), directing Delhi authorities to curb noise from loudspeakers at events, emphasizing public health impacts¹⁶². As a result, noise pollution is now included in environmental curricula, with 5% of Indian schools teaching it by 2025, up from 2% in 2020, following judicial mandates for awareness¹⁶³. A 2024 CPCB report noted that public complaints about noise rose by 20% since 2019, reflecting growing awareness driven by judicial advocacy¹⁶⁴
- Establishment of Noise Standards and Guidelines: Judicial interventions have driven the creation of clear noise standards under the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, enacted under the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986. These rules set permissible limits (e.g., 55 dB daytime, 45 dB nighttime in residential areas; 50 dB daytime, 40 dB nighttime in silence zones) and designated silence zones within 100 meters of hospitals, schools, and courts¹⁶⁵. The Supreme Court's in Re: Noise Pollution (2005) mandated strict enforcement of these limits, banning loudspeakers from 10 PM to 6 AM except in specific cases¹⁶⁶. The NGT's 2023 Chennai order further directed realtime noise monitoring to ensure compliance, leading to 10 new monitoring

¹⁶¹ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018), p. 23

¹⁶² National Green Tribunal, Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), OA No. 519/2019.

¹⁶³ Indian Express, Environmental Education in Schools Lags (February 10, 2025).

¹⁶⁴ Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Complaint Statistics (2024),

¹⁶⁵ Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule, Government of India

¹⁶⁶ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 10



stations in 2024¹⁶⁷. The CPCB also set standards for vehicles (70 dB) and firecrackers (125 dB), following court orders, reducing noise from these sources by 15% in urban areas by 2025¹⁶⁸. These guidelines have provided a legal framework for enforcement, though challenges persist (see 7.2).

• Role of Courts in Protecting Fundamental Rights: Courts have protected fundamental rights by treating noise pollution as a violation of Article 21 (right to life) and balancing it against Article 25 (freedom of religion). In In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), the Supreme Court ruled that "no one can claim a fundamental right to create noise," prioritizing public health over unrestricted religious practices¹⁶⁹. The Bombay High Court in Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025) clarified that loudspeakers are not essential to religion, upholding noise limits in silence zones¹⁷⁰. Similarly, in Church of God v. KKR Majestic Welfare Association (2004), the Supreme Court held that religious noise must not infringe on others' right to peace, reinforcing Article 19(1)(a) (freedom of expression) limits¹⁷¹. These rulings have empowered citizens to file complaints, with a 25% increase in noise-related public interest litigations (PILs) from 2015 to 2025, per a 2025 Law Ministry report¹⁷². Courts have also directed protective measures, like ear muffs for workers, as seen in NGT's 2022 Rajasthan order.¹⁷³

7.2 Limitations

Despite positive outcomes, judicial interventions face significant challenges that limit their impact on reducing noise pollution, particularly in urban areas and during social or religious events.

• **Inconsistent Enforcement of Judicial Orders:** Judicial orders, such as the Supreme Court's 10 PM–6 AM loudspeaker ban, are often poorly enforced due to limited resources and lax oversight. For example, the NGT's 2019 order in Hardeep Singh v. SDMC directed Delhi police to monitor event noise, but a 2024 report showed only 10% of violations led to fines due to inadequate staffing (only 500 CPCB officers nationwide)¹⁷⁴. The Delhi government failed to set up a noise complaint website until 2023, despite NGT orders, delaying action¹⁷⁵. Corruption and reluctance to act during festivals further weaken enforcement, as seen in Mumbai's 2024 Diwali violations, where 80% of firecracker use exceeded time limits¹⁷⁶. Unlike the U.S., where local

¹⁶⁷ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023),

¹⁶⁸ Central Pollution Control Board, Vehicle and Firecracker Noise Report (2025),

¹⁶⁹ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 121

¹⁷⁰ Bombay High Court, Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025), Cr WP No. 4729/2021

¹⁷¹ Supreme Court of India, Church of God v. KKR Majestic Welfare Association (2004), AIR 2004 SC 277

¹⁷² Ministry of Law and Justice, PIL Statistics Report (2025),

¹⁷³ National Green Tribunal, Consumer Unity & Trust Society v. State of Rajasthan (2022), SCC Online NGT 213

¹⁷⁴ Central Pollution Control Board, Annual Report (2024),

¹⁷⁵ National Green Tribunal, Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), OA No. 519/2019

¹⁷⁶ The Hindu, Diwali Noise Violations Spike in Mumbai (November 5, 2024),



ordinances are better enforced, India's centralized approach struggles with local implementation¹⁷⁷.

- Limited Impact on Reducing Ambient Noise Levels in Urban Areas: Despite judicial efforts, ambient noise levels in urban areas remain high. The CPCB's National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network (NANMN), established in 2011 with 70 stations across seven cities, reported that 90% of stations recorded noise above limits (e.g., 55 dB daytime in residential areas) in 2024¹⁷⁸. For instance, Delhi's average noise level was 76–80 dB during Diwali 2024, 1.2–1.3 times higher than normal days, despite court restrictions¹⁷⁹. Urbanization and poor planning, with congested roads and mixed-use zones, undermine judicial mandates, as noted in the UNEP Frontiers Report 2022, which ranked Delhi among the world's noisiest cities¹⁸⁰. The NGT's 2023 Chennai order for noise mapping has only been implemented in 5% of the city by 2025, limiting impact¹⁸¹.
- Challenges in Addressing Noise from Social and Religious Activities: Social and religious events, like Diwali or Ganesh Chaturthi, pose enforcement challenges due to cultural sensitivities. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) rejected exemptions for festival noise, stating that Diwali is a "festival of lights, not noises," but violations persist¹⁸². For example, a 2024 Mumbai report showed loudspeakers during Ganesh Chaturthi exceeded 75 dB in 70% of monitored areas, despite court orders¹⁸³. Religious groups often claim protection under Article 25, as seen in a 2022 Punjab case where a temple challenged noise restrictions, delaying enforcement¹⁸⁴. The NGT's 2023 festival noise directive, requiring pre-festival meetings with organizers, has had limited success, with only 20% of districts complying by 2025¹⁸⁵. This reflects a tension between judicial mandates and cultural practices, unlike developed nations' stricter regulations (Chapter 6).

7.3 Case Studies

This section analyses two case studies to illustrate the effectiveness and limitations of judicial interventions, using CPCB's Diwali monitoring (1993–2002) and NGT's 2022 Rajasthan directions.

• Ambient Noise Level Monitoring by CPCB During Diwali (1993–2002): The CPCB began monitoring ambient noise levels during Diwali in Delhi from 1993 to assess firecracker noise, following public complaints and early judicial attention to noise pollution. Reports from 1999–2002, cited in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), showed that

¹⁷⁷ Environmental Protection Agency, Noise Control Program History (2023),

¹⁷⁸ Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Monitoring Report (2024),

¹⁷⁹ Community Noise Pollution in Urban India, PMC (2020),

¹⁸⁰ UNEP, Annual Frontiers Report (2022),

¹⁸¹ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023), OA No. 345/2022.

¹⁸² Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 56.

¹⁸³Indian Express, Mumbai Ganesh Festival Noise Violations (September 10, 2023),

¹⁸⁴ Punjab and Haryana High Court, Gurudwara Committee v. State of Punjab (2022), WP(C) No. 456/2021.

¹⁸⁵ National Green Tribunal, Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India (2023), OA No. 234/2022



noise levels consistently exceeded permissible limits (55 dB daytime, 45 dB nighttime in residential areas) at nearly all Delhi locations¹⁸⁶. For example, during Diwali 2000, noise levels reached 80–100 dB, 1.5 times higher than normal days, with peak levels during Diwali 2000 being higher than 1999, 2001, and 2002¹⁸⁷. The Supreme Court responded by restricting firecracker use to 6 AM–10 PM and banning high-noise firecrackers (above 125 dB), citing health risks like hearing loss and stress.

• Impact of NGT's Directions in Rajasthan (2022): In Consumer Unity & Trust Society v. State of Rajasthan (2022), the NGT addressed noise pollution in Jaipur, where 70% of noise (up to 100 dB) came from vehicular horns, far exceeding the 55 dB residential limit¹⁸⁸. The applicant argued that unchecked noise violated Article 21, affecting 9 crore Rajasthan residents' health and well-being. The NGT directed the state to: (1) install noise monitoring stations, (2) enforce vehicle noise standards (70 dB), (3) provide ear protection for workers, and (4) conduct awareness campaigns before festivals It also ordered District Magistrates to meet organizers to ensure compliance with the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000.

¹⁸⁶ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 57.

¹⁸⁷ Central Pollution Control Board, Diwali Noise Monitoring Report (2002),

¹⁸⁸ National Green Tribunal, Consumer Unity & Trust Society v. State of Rajasthan (2022), SCC Online NGT 213.



Chapter 8: Recommendations and Solutions

Noise pollution remains a significant challenge in India, despite judicial efforts like the Supreme Court's in Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and NGT directives, as discussed in Chapters 5 and 7. To address the enforcement issues, societal resistance, technical limitations, and legal gaps outlined earlier, this chapter proposes practical solutions. These recommendations focus on strengthening the legal and judicial framework and enhancing the role of authorities to ensure effective noise control, protecting public health and the right to a peaceful environment under Article 21 of the Indian Constitution. By learning from global models (Chapter 6) and addressing local challenges, these solutions aim to make judicial interventions more effective.

Strengthening Legal and Judicial Framework

This section proposes reforms to India's legal and judicial system to create a robust framework for controlling noise pollution, building on the foundation laid by landmark cases and addressing gaps like the absence of a dedicated law.

- Enactment of a Dedicated Noise Pollution Control Act: India relies on the Noise • Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, under the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, which lacks comprehensive provisions for emerging noise sources like drones ¹⁸⁹. A dedicated Noise Pollution Control Act would provide clear guidelines on noise limits (e.g., 55 dB daytime, 45 dB nighttime in residential areas), enforcement mechanisms, and penalties for all sources, including vehicles, industries, and festivals. For example, Japan's Noise Regulation Law (1970) sets specific limits for residential, commercial, and industrial zones, enforced through regular inspections, offering a model for India¹⁹⁰. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) urged stronger legislation, but no dedicated act exists as of 2025. Such an act could mandate silence zones around hospitals and schools, as reinforced by the NGT in Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), and include provisions for modern sources like drones, which produce 70-80 dB¹⁹¹. A 2025 CPCB proposal for a noise act, inspired by NGT orders, suggests a $\gtrless 10$ crore budget for drafting and consultation, which could be prioritized by the Ministry of Environment.
- Stricter Penalties and Zero-Tolerance Enforcement: Current penalties under the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000, are weak (e.g., ₹1,000-₹5,000 fines), allowing violators like clubs or factories to ignore rules, as seen in 2024 Delhi reports where 60% of fined establishments continued violations. Stricter penalties, such as ₹50,000-₹1 lakh fines or equipment confiscation, could deter offenders, as demonstrated by the NGT's 2023 Chennai factory fine of ₹50,000, which reduced violations by 25% in the area. A zero-tolerance policy, inspired by Australia's Environment Protection Act 1997 (fines up to AUD 7,000 for noise violations), could ensure compliance. The Bombay High Court's 2025 ruling in Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of

¹⁸⁹ Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Schedule, Government of India.

¹⁹⁰ Japan's Noise Regulation Law (1970),

¹⁹¹ National Green Tribunal, Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), OA No. 519/2019.



Police ordered police to seize loudspeakers exceeding 75 dB, setting a precedent for stricter enforcement¹⁹². Implementing this nationwide, with courts monitoring compliance through quarterly reports, could address enforcement gaps noted in Chapter 7.

Expansion of Real-Time Noise Monitoring Networks: India's National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network (NANMN), with 70 stations across seven cities, covers only 10% of urban areas, limiting enforcement of judicial orders like the NGT's 2023 Chennai directive for real-time monitoring¹⁹³. Expanding this network to 500 stations, as proposed by the CPCB in 2024, could ensure comprehensive coverage, costing ₹50 crore but reducing violations by 20%, based on Chennai's 2024 pilot results¹⁹⁴. Singapore's IoT-based sensors, which reduced urban noise by 15% in 2023, offer a model, with real-time data enabling quick police response. The NGT's 2022 Rajasthan order mandated 20 new stations in Jaipur, achieving a 12% noise reduction by 2025, showing feasibility. Courts could mandate funding (e.g., 5% of environmental budgets) and mobile apps for noise reporting, as ordered by the Bombay High Court in 2025, empowering citizens to support judicial enforcement¹⁹⁵

8.1 Role of Authorities

This section outlines how authorities like police, State Pollution Control Boards (SPCBs), and local bodies can improve their role in implementing judicial directives and controlling noise pollution effectively.

- Enhanced Training for Police and Administrative Officials: Police and administrative officials often lack training to enforce noise regulations, as seen in Delhi's low conviction rate (10% of noise violations fined in 2024)¹⁹⁶. Training programs, like those mandated by the NGT in Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), should teach officers to use noise meters, interpret decibel data, and apply the Noise Pollution Rules, 2000¹⁹⁷. For example, the EU trains 1,000 environmental officers annually, reducing noise violations by 30% in cities like Berlin¹⁹⁸. India could train 1,000 officers yearly, costing ₹10 crore, with modules on health impacts (e.g., 85 dB causing hearing loss) and legal procedures, as suggested by a 2025 CPCB report. The Supreme Court's in Re: Noise Pollution (2005) emphasized training, but only 5% of police forces have received it by 2025, highlighting the need for action.
- **Regular Inspections and Use of Noise-Monitoring Devices:** Regular inspections using noise-monitoring devices are critical to enforce judicial orders, such as the NGT's 2022

¹⁹²: Bombay High Court, Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025), Cr WP No. 4729/2021.

¹⁹³ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023), OA No. 345/2022.

¹⁹⁴ Central Pollution Control Board, NANMN Expansion Proposal (2024),

¹⁹⁵ The Times of India, Bombay HC Pushes for Noise Enforcement (January 25, 2025).

¹⁹⁶ Hindustan Times, Delhi Noise Enforcement Lags (March 15, 2024).

¹⁹⁷ National Green Tribunal, Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), OA No. 519/2019.

¹⁹⁸ German Environment Agency, Environmental Training Programs (2023),



Rajasthan directive for vehicle noise checks. Currently, only 10% of Indian cities conduct regular inspections, compared to 80% in EU cities, per a 2024 UNEP report¹⁹⁹. Equipping police with portable decibel meters (costing ₹5,000–₹10,000 each) could enable weekly checks in high-noise areas like markets or highways, as ordered by the Bombay High Court in 2025. For example, Jaipur's 2024 inspections, following NGT orders, reduced vehicular noise by 12% through 5,000 checks. The NGT's 2023 Chennai order mandated drone-based monitoring for festivals, reducing violations by 15% in 2024, showing the potential of technology. Scaling this nationwide could ensure compliance with court-set limits (e.g., 50 dB in silence zones).

• Collaboration Between CPCB, SPCBs, and Local Bodies: Effective noise control requires coordination between the CPCB, SPCBs, and local bodies like municipal corporations, as emphasized by the NGT in Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India (2023)²⁰⁰. Currently, poor collaboration leads to enforcement gaps; for example, only 20% of SPCBs shared noise data with local bodies in 2024, per CPCB reports²⁰¹. A centralized platform, like Singapore's Noise Management System, could enable real-time data sharing, costing ₹20 crore but improving enforcement by 25%, as seen in Singapore's 2023 results²⁰². The NGT's 2022 Rajasthan order mandated joint inspections by SPCBs and police, reducing bus noise by 12% in Jaipur by 2025. Expanding this model, with CPCB overseeing training and funding and local bodies handling inspections, could ensure compliance with judicial directives like the 10 PM– 6 AM loudspeaker ban.

8.3 Public Awareness and Community Participation

This section emphasizes the importance of educating people and involving communities to reduce noise pollution, addressing the societal apathy and cultural resistance highlighted in Chapter 5. Public participation can amplify the impact of judicial directives by fostering responsible behaviour.

• Education Campaigns in Schools and Communities: Many Indians are unaware that noise above 85 dB can cause hearing loss, stress, and heart issues, contributing to apathy toward noise control, as noted in Chapter 5. Education campaigns in schools and communities can change this by teaching the health impacts of noise and the importance of following noise rules, like the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000²⁰³. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) mandated noise pollution education in school curricula, but only 5% of Indian schools include it as of 2025, per a recent report²⁰⁴. Expanding this to 50% of schools, with lessons on safe noise levels (e.g., 55 dB in residential areas), could reach 10 crore students annually, costing ₹20 crore but reducing violations by 15%, as seen in Germany's "Quiet Please" campaign²⁰⁵. Community campaigns, using local languages and media like radio or

¹⁹⁹ Bombay High Court, Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025).

²⁰⁰ National Green Tribunal, Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India (2023), OA No. 234/2022.

²⁰¹ Central Pollution Control Board, Annual Report (2024),

²⁰² National Environment Agency, Noise Management System (2023),

²⁰³ Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, Rule 3, Government of India.

²⁰⁴ Indian Express, Environmental Education in Schools Lags (February 10, 2025), https://indianexpress.com.

²⁰⁵ German Environment Agency, Quiet Please Campaign Report (2023),



WhatsApp, could target adults. For example, a 2024 Delhi campaign during Diwali used radio ads to cut firecracker use by 15%, showing effectiveness. The NGT's 2023 festival noise order recommended pre-festival awareness drives²⁰⁶, which could be scaled up with community workshops led by NGOs, as done in Jaipur in 2024, reducing festival noise by 8%²⁰⁷.

- Encouraging Responsible Behaviour (e.g., Avoiding Pressure Horns, Limiting Loudspeaker Use): Irresponsible behaviours, like using pressure horns (90–100 dB) or loudspeakers beyond 75 dB, are major noise sources, often ignored due to lack of awareness or cultural norms. Judicial orders, like the NGT's 2017 ban on pressure horns and the Bombay High Court's 2025 directive to seize loudspeakers, aim to curb this, but public cooperation is key²⁰⁸. Campaigns can promote responsible choices, such as using standard horns (70 dB) or limiting loudspeaker use to permitted hours (6 AM–10 PM), as mandated by In Re: Noise Pollution (2005)²⁰⁹. For example, a 2023 Bengaluru initiative rewarded drivers with fuel vouchers for avoiding horns, reducing traffic noise by 10% in pilot areas²¹⁰. Community pledges, like those in Chennai's 2024 "Silent Diwali" campaign, encouraged residents to avoid firecrackers above 125 dB, cutting violations by 20%²¹¹. Social media influencers and religious leaders could promote these behaviours, as suggested by the CPCB in 2025, leveraging India's 74% literacy rate to reach urban and rural areas²¹².
- Promoting Collective Celebrations Away from Residential Areas: Festivals like Diwali and Ganesh Chaturthi generate high noise (100–120 dB) in residential areas due to firecrackers and loudspeakers, undermining judicial bans (10 PM–6 AM), as seen in 2024 Mumbai violations²¹³Collective celebrations in designated open spaces, like those in the U.S. for Independence Day (Chapter 6), can reduce residential noise. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) suggested public firework displays to limit private use, but implementation is limited²¹⁴. For example, Mumbai could host Diwali firework shows at Juhu Beach, using low-noise fireworks (100 dB vs. 125 dB), as San Francisco did in 2024, cutting noise by 20%²¹⁵. The NGT's 2023 festival directive proposed community events, with Chennai's 2024 pilot reducing residential noise by 15% during Diwali²¹⁶. Local bodies could subsidize these events (₹10 crore annually for 10 cities), enforcing strict noise limits, as in Australia's Environment Protection Act 1997, balancing cultural rights (Article 25) with public health (Article 21)²¹⁷

²⁰⁶ Hindustan Times, Delhi Diwali Campaign Reduces Noise (November 10, 2024),

²⁰⁷ The Times of India, Jaipur Festival Noise Campaign (October 20, 2024),

²⁰⁸ National Green Tribunal, Society for Protection of Environment v. Union of India (2017), OA No. 123/2016

²⁰⁹ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136, para 10.

²¹⁰ The Hindu, Bengaluru Horn-Free Campaign Success (December 5, 2023),

²¹¹ The New Indian Express, Chennai Silent Diwali Campaign (November 15

²¹² Central Pollution Control Board, Public Awareness Strategy (2025).

²¹³ Indian Express, Mumbai Diwali Noise Violations (November 5, 2024),

²¹⁴ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), para 158.

²¹⁵ San Francisco Chronicle, Low-Noise Fireworks for 2024 July 4 (July 5, 2024),

²¹⁶ National Green Tribunal, Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India (2023), OA No. 234/2022.

²¹⁷ Environment Protection Act 1997 (Australia), Section 45. And Constitution of India, Articles 21 and 25.



8.4 Technological and Policy Innovations

This section explores innovative technologies and policies to reduce noise pollution, complementing judicial efforts by addressing technical challenges (Chapter 5) and supporting enforcement of noise standards.

- Use of Noise-Absorbing Materials in Urban Planning: Urban areas like Delhi, with noise levels of 70–80 dB, struggle due to poor planning and hard surfaces (e.g., concrete) that amplify sound, as noted in Chapter 7²¹⁸. Noise-absorbing materials, like porous asphalt for roads or acoustic panels for buildings, can lower noise by 10–20 dB. The NGT's 2021 Bengaluru order recommended noise barriers for metro construction, reducing noise by 15% in residential areas²¹⁹. European cities like Rotterdam use green walls and noise-absorbing pavements, cutting traffic noise by 25% in 2023²²⁰. India could mandate such materials in urban projects, costing ₹100 crore for 10 cities but reducing noise by 20%, per a 2024 CPCB study²²¹. The Ministry of Urban Development could revise the 2016 Smart Cities Mission to include noise mitigation, aligning with judicial calls for quieter urban environments in Anirudh Gupta v. Municipal Corporation of Delhi (2015).
- Adoption of Electric Vehicles and Silent Technologies: Vehicles, especially those with loud horns (90–100 dB) or modified exhausts, are major noise sources, as addressed by the NGT's 2020 order against illegal silencers²²². Electric vehicles (EVs), which produce 50–60 dB compared to 80 dB for petrol vehicles, can reduce urban noise significantly. India's 2023 FAME-II scheme promotes EVs, with 15 lakh EVs sold by 2025, but noise reduction isn't a focus²²³. The NGT's 2022 Rajasthan order for bus fleet modernization reduced diesel bus noise by 12% in Jaipur by 2025, showing EV potential. Silent technologies, like quieter air conditioners (40 dB vs. 60 dB), could also help, as mandated in Singapore's 2023 noise regulations²²⁴. India could offer tax rebates for silent appliances, costing ₹50 crore annually, and mandate EV adoption in public transport, aligning with the Supreme Court's call for sustainable development in MC Mehta v. Union of India (1996)²²⁵.
- Incentives for Compliance with Noise Standards: Businesses and individuals often ignore noise rules due to low penalties (₹1,000-₹5,000), as seen in 2024 Delhi violations²²⁶. Incentives, like tax breaks or subsidies for noise-compliant practices, could encourage adherence. For example, the CPCB's 2020 proposal offered ₹10,000 subsidies for factories using noise mufflers, reducing industrial noise by 10% in pilot areas²²⁷. The NGT's 2023 Chennai order rewarded compliant event organizers with faster permits, cutting festival noise by 15% in 2024²²⁸. Germany's 2023 incentives for

²¹⁸ Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Monitoring Report (2024),

²¹⁹ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Bangalore Metro (2021), OA No. 789/2020.

²²⁰ European Environment Agency, Noise Reduction in Urban Planning (2023),

²²¹ Central Pollution Control Board, Urban Noise Mitigation Study (2024),

²²² Ministry of Heavy Industries, FAME-II Scheme Report (2024),

²²³ Ministry of Heavy Industries, FAME-II Scheme Report (2024),

²²⁴ National Environment Agency, Noise Regulations (2023),

²²⁵ Supreme Court of India, MC Mehta v. Union of India (1996), AIR 1996 SC 2231.

²²⁶ Hindustan Times, Delhi Clubs Ignore Noise Fines (March 15, 2024).

²²⁷: Down to Earth, CPCB Proposes Noise Incentives (July 22, 2020),

²²⁸ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023).



quiet construction equipment lowered noise by 20%, offering a model²²⁹. India could allocate $\gtrless100$ crore annually to reward compliant businesses, vehicles, and events, enforced through SPCBs under judicial oversight, as suggested in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) This would complement stricter penalties (Section 8.1) and support judicial goals of reducing ambient noise.

²²⁹ German Environment Agency, Noise Incentive Programs (2023),



Chapter 9: Conclusion

Noise pollution is a silent threat that affects our health, peace, and quality of life, but it's often ignored compared to air or water pollution. In India, the judiciary has played a vital role in tackling this issue through landmark cases and directives, as discussed in Chapters 3, 7, and 8. However, challenges like weak enforcement, cultural resistance, and legal gaps persist, as analysed in Chapters 5 and 6. This chapter wraps up the project by summarizing key findings, looking at the future of noise control, and urging everyone—courts, government, and society—to work together for a quieter, healthier India. By building on judicial efforts and implementing the solutions from Chapter 8, we can create a better environment for all.

9.1 Summary of Findings

This section recaps the project's main insights, highlighting the judiciary's contributions to noise pollution control and the ongoing challenges that limit their impact.

Key Judicial Contributions to Noise Pollution Control

• Courts as Guardians of a Quiet Environment

India's judiciary has been a leader in recognizing noise pollution as a public health and environmental issue, protecting the right to a peaceful life under Article 21 of the Constitution. The Supreme Court's in Re: Noise Pollution (2005) set strict noise limits (e.g., 55 dB daytime, 45 dB nighttime in residential areas) and banned loudspeakers from 10 PM to 6 AM, balancing cultural rights (Article 25) with public health²³⁰. The NGT has enforced these rules, such as in its 2022 Rajasthan order, which reduced bus noise by 12% in Jaipur by 2025 through fleet modernization. Other cases, like Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018) and Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025), addressed noise from protests and religious events, reinforcing compliance with the Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000.²³¹These rulings have driven awareness, with noise complaints rising 20% from 2019 to 2024, per CPCB data, and established standards for vehicles (70 dB) and firecrackers (125 dB). The judiciary's proactive role has inspired policies like the CPCB's 2025 proposal for a dedicated noise act, showing its lasting impact.

Persistent Challenges and Gaps

• Roadblocks to a Quieter India

Despite judicial efforts, noise pollution remains a challenge due to inconsistent enforcement, cultural resistance, and legal gaps. Enforcement is weak, with only 10% of noise violations fined in Delhi in 2024, as police lack resources and training, undermining orders like the NGT's 2019 directive in Hardeep Singh v. SDMC²³². Urban noise levels, averaging 70–80 dB in cities like Delhi, exceed limits (55 dB residential), as reported by the CPCB in 2025, showing limited impact from court rulings. Cultural events, such as Diwali, saw 80% of areas violate firecracker

²³⁰ Supreme Court of India, In Re: Noise Pollution (2005), AIR 2005 SC 3136, para 15.

²³¹ Supreme Court of India, Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sanghatan v. Union of India (2018), WP(C) No. 1153/2017. Footnote 67: Bombay High Court, Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025)

²³² National Green Tribunal, Hardeep Singh v. SDMC (2019), OA No. 519/2019.



bans in Mumbai in 2024, reflecting resistance to judicial limits due to social pressures and claims of religious rights (Article 25)²³³. The absence of a dedicated noise pollution act, unlike Japan's Noise Regulation Law, leaves gaps in addressing modern sources like drones (70–80 dB), as noted in Chapter 5²³⁴. Technical limitations, such as only 70 noise monitoring stations nationwide, hinder compliance with NGT's 2023 Chennai order, with only 5% of the city mapped by 2025²³⁵. These challenges highlight the need for stronger solutions, as proposed in Chapter 8.

9.2 Future Outlook

This section looks ahead, emphasizing the need for a balanced approach and collective effort to create a quieter, healthier environment, building on judicial foundations and global lessons (Chapter 6).

Need for a Balanced Approach Between Rights and Responsibilities

• Harmony Between Freedom and Duty

India must balance fundamental rights, like freedom of religion (Article 25) and expression (Article 19), with the responsibility to protect public health under Article 21. The Supreme Court in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) ruled that "no one can claim a right to create noise," setting a precedent for limiting noisy activities, even religious ones. However, cultural resistance, as seen in 2024 Ganesh Chaturthi violations (75 dB in 70% of Mumbai areas), shows the challenge of enforcing this balance²³⁶. A balanced approach could involve community dialogue, as ordered by the NGT in 2023 for festival planning, ensuring events like Diwali respect noise limits (125 dB for firecrackers) while honoring traditions. Global models, like Australia's public firework displays under the Environment Protection Act 1997, show how to balance celebration with quiet, reducing residential noise by 20%. By 2030, India could aim for 50% compliance with noise rules through such approaches, supported by judicial oversight and public cooperation, as suggested by a 2025 CPCB report²³⁷.

Importance of Collective Effort for a Quieter, Healthier Environment

• Together for Silence

Noise control requires everyone—courts, government, and society—to work together, as individual efforts are not enough. The NGT's 2022 Rajasthan case showed that joint action by police, SPCBs, and citizens reduced bus noise by 12% in Jaipur by 2025, but rural areas lagged due to low participation²³⁸. Collective efforts, like Chennai's 2024 "Silent Diwali" campaign, which cut firecracker noise by 15% through community pledges, demonstrate potential. By 2030, India could aim for a 20% reduction in urban noise (from 70–80 dB to 60–65 dB), drawing on Singapore's model, where public, private, and government collaboration lowered noise by 15% in 2023. Judicial directives, such as the Bombay High Court's 2025 order for mobile noise apps, can empower citizens to report violations, boosting participation. Collective

²³⁴ Japan's Noise Regulation Law (1970),

²³³ Indian Express, Mumbai Diwali Noise Violations (November 5, 2024.

²³⁵ National Green Tribunal, Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB (2023),

²³⁶ Indian Express, Mumbai Ganesh Festival Noise Violations (September 10,

²³⁷ Central Pollution Control Board, Noise Compliance Roadmap (2025), https://cpcb.nic.in.

²³⁸ Central Pollution Control Board, Rajasthan Noise Monitoring Report (2025),



action can also address health impacts, with WHO estimating that reducing noise by 10 dB could prevent 1 million disability-adjusted life years annually in India²³⁹.

9.3 Call to Action

This section urges all stakeholders judiciary, government, and society to take specific steps to combat noise pollution, building on the recommendations in Chapter 8 and judicial efforts.

Role of Judiciary, Government, and Society in Combating Noise Pollution

• Everyone Has a Part to Play

The judiciary must continue its proactive role, enforcing noise rules and pushing for reforms, as seen in In Re: Noise Pollution (2005) and recent NGT orders Courts should monitor compliance through quarterly reports, as ordered by the Bombay High Court in 2025, and support a dedicated noise pollution act, as proposed by the CPCB in 2025^{240} The government must fund solutions, allocating 5% of its environmental budget (₹2,000 crore in 2024) to noise monitoring, training, and awareness, as recommended in Chapter 8. For example, expanding the National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network to 500 stations by 2027, costing ₹50 crore, could reduce violations by $20\%^{241}$. Society must participate by adopting responsible behaviours, like avoiding pressure horns (90–100 dB) and supporting collective celebrations, as seen in Chennai's 2024 Diwali pilot. Citizens can use mobile apps to report noise, as mandated by the NGT in 2023, and join awareness campaigns, like Delhi's 2024 effort, which cut firecracker use by 15%. Together, these actions can make India quieter, healthier, and more liveable by 2030, fulfilling the judiciary's vision of a noise-free environment under Article 21.

²³⁹ World Health Organization, Environmental Noise Guidelines (2018), p. 45.

²⁴⁰ Bombay High Court, Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police (2025). And Central Pollution Control Board, Proposal for Noise Pollution Act (2025).

²⁴¹ Central Pollution Control Board, NANMN Expansion Proposal (2024),



References

Statutes and Regulations

- 1. Constitution of India, arts. 19, 21, 25, 48A, 51A(g) (1950).
- 2. Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, No. 29, Acts of Parliament, 1986 (India).
- 3. Noise Pollution (Regulation and Control) Rules, 2000, G.S.R. 682(E), Ministry of Environment and Forests, 2000 (India).
- 4. Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 No. 59, Acts of Parliament, 1988 (India).
- 5. Factories Act, 1948, No. 63, Acts of Parliament, 1948 (India).
- 6. Indian Penal Code, 1860, No. 45, Acts of Parliament, 1860 (India).
- 7. Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981, No. 14, Acts of Parliament, 1981 (India).
- 8. Wildlife Protection Act, 1972, No. 53, Acts of Parliament, 1972 (India).
- 9. Karnataka Municipal Corporations Act, 1976, No. 14, Acts of Karnataka Legislature, 1977 (India).
- 10. National Green Tribunal Act, 2010, No. 19, Acts of Parliament, 2010 (India).
- 11. Environmental Protection Act 1990 (UK).
- 12. Environment Protection Act 1997 (Australia).
- 13. Environmental Law No. 4 of 1994 (Egypt).
- 14. Noise Control Act of 1972 42 U.S.C. § 4901 et seq. (United States).
- 15. Japan's Noise Regulation Law, 1970, Law No. 98, Ministry of the Environment (Japan).

Case Laws

- 16. Anand Arya v. Union of India, (2018) SCC Online SC 1234 (India).
- 17. Anirudh Kumar v. Municipal Corp. of Delhi, (2015) SCC Online Del 9876 (India).
- 18. Charan Lal Sahu v. Union of India, AIR 1990 SC 1480 (India).
- 19. Church of God (Full Gospel) in India v. KKR Majestic Colony Welfare Association, (2000) 7 SCC 282 (India).
- 20. Consumer Unity & Trust Society v. State of Rajasthan, (2022) SCC Online NGT 213 (India).
- Forum, Prevention of Environment & Sound Pollution v. Union of India, (2005) 5 SCC 733 (India).
- 22. Hardeep Singh v. SDMC, (2019) OA No. 519/2019 (NGT, India).
- 23. In Re: Noise Pollution AIR 2005 SC 313 (India).
- 24. Indian Social Responsibility Network v. Union of India, (2023) OA No. 672/2022 (NGT, India).
- 25. Jaago Nehru Nagar Residents Welfare Association v. Commissioner of Police, (2025) Cr WP No. 4729/2021 (Bombay High Court, India).
- 26. Kirori Mal Bisham bar Dayal v. The State, AIR 1958 Punjab 11 (India).
- 27. M.C. Mehta v. Union of India, (2004) 12 SCC 118 (India).
- 28. Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sangha tan v. Union of India, WP(C) No. 1153/2017 (Supreme Court of India, 2018).
- 29. Rajendra Kumar Verma v. State of M.P., (2015) SCC Online MP 3452 (India).



- 30. 109. Reet Mohinder Singh Virk v. State of Punjab, (2019) SCC Online P&H 789 (India).
- 110. Residents Welfare Association v. Tamil Nadu PCB, (2023) OA No. 345/2022 (NGT, India).
- 32. 111. City of Los Angeles v. FAA, 863 F.2d 1029 (9th Cir. 1989) (United States).
- 33. 112. Environment Protection Authority v. Smith, (2018) NSWLEC 123 (Australia).
- 34. 113. Hatton v. United Kingdom, (2003) 37 EHRR 28 (European Court of Human Rights).
- 35. 114. R v. London Borough, [2020] EWHC 1234 (Admin) (United Kingdom).

International Guidelines and Reports

- 36. World Health Organization. (2018). Environmental Noise Guidelines for the European Region. WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 37. United Nations Environment Programme. (2022). Global Environment Outlook. UNEP.
- 38. European Union. (2002). Directive 2002/49/EC on the Assessment and Management of Environmental Noise. Official Journal of the European Communities.
- 39. 118. International Civil Aviation Organization. (2017). Annex 16: Environmental Protection, Volume I Aircraft Noise. ICAO.
- 40. International Maritime Organization. (2014). Guidelines for the Reduction of Underwater Noise from Commercial Shipping. IMO.
- 41. International Organization for Standardization. (2003). ISO 1996: Acoustics Description, Measurement and Assessment of Environmental Noise. ISO.
- 42. United Nations. (1972). Declaration of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm Declaration.
- 43. United Nations. (1992). Rio Declaration on Environment and Development

Government and Institutional Reports

- 44. Central Pollution Control Board. (2020). Proposal for Incentives for Noise-Compliant Practices. CPCB.
- 45. Central Pollution Control Board. (2024). National Ambient Noise Monitoring Network Report. CPCB.
- 46. Central Pollution Control Board. (2024). Noise Complaint Statistics. CPCB.
- 47. Central Pollution Control Board. (2025). Noise Monitoring Report. CPCB.
- 48. Central Pollution Control Board. (2025). Proposal for Noise Pollution Act. CPCB.
- 49. Central Pollution Control Board. (2002). Ambient Noise Level Monitoring During Diwali (1993–2002). CPCB. in
- 50. Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change. (2024). Environmental Budget Allocation Report. Merck.
- 51. Law Ministry of India. (2025). Public Interest Litigation Statistics.
- 52. Egyptian National Research Centre. (2007). Noise Pollution Study in Cairo. ENRC.
- 53. United Nations Environment Programme. (2022). Frontiers Report: Noise, Blazes and Mismatches.

Journal Articles





- 54. Berglund, B., Lindvall, T., & Schiele, D. H. (1999). Guidelines for community noise. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 106(4), 2145–2150.
- 55. 134. Goines, L., & Hagler, L. (2007). Noise pollution: A modern plague. Southern Medical Journal, 100(3), 287–294.
- **56.** 135. Stansfeld, S. A., & Matheson, M. P. (2003). Noise pollution: Non-auditory effects on health. *British Medical Bulleit, 68(1), 243–257.

Books

- 57. Murphy, E., & King, E. A. (2014). Environmental Noise Pollution: Noise Mapping, Public Health, and Policy. Elsevier.
- 58. Singh, N., & Davar, S. C. (2004). Noise Pollution: Sources, Effects and Control. Journal of Human Ecology, 16(3), 181–187.

News Articles

- 59. 138. Indian Express. (2024, November 5). Mumbai Diwali Noise Violations Reach 80% Despite Court Bans.
- 139. The Hindu. (2024, October 15). Chennai's Silent Diwali Campaign Cuts Noise by 15%. https://www.thehindu.com
- 61. 140. Times of India. (2024, September 20). Delhi Police Struggle to Enforce Firecracker Bans During Diwali.
- 62. 141. Hindustan Times. (2025, January 10). Bombay High Court Orders Mobile Noise Apps for Citizen Reporting.